Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Neurobiology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pneurobio

Review article

Adaptive and maladaptive neural compensatory consequences of sensory deprivation—From a phantom percept perspective

Anusha Mohan, Sven Vanneste*

Lab for Clinical & Integrative Neuroscience, School of Behavioral and Brain Sciences, The University of Texas at Dallas, USA

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 20 December 2016 Received in revised form 21 March 2017 Accepted 28 March 2017 Available online xxx

Keywords: Plasticity Prediction-error Deafferentation Critical period It is suggested that the brain undergoes plastic changes in order to adapt to changing environmental needs. Sensory deprivation results in decreased input to the brain leading to adaptive or maladaptive changes. Although several theories hypothesize the mechanism of these adaptive and maladaptive changes, the course of action taken by the brain heavily depends on the age of incidence of damage. The growing body of literature on the topic proposes that maladaptive changes in the brain are instrumental in creating phantom percepts, defined as the perception of a sensory experience in the absence of a physical stimulus. The current article reviews the mechanisms of adaptive and maladaptive plasticity in the brain in congenital, early, and late-onset sensory deprivation in conjunction with the phantom percepts in the different sensory domains. We propose that the mechanisms of adaptive and maladaptive plasticity fall under a universal construct of updating hierarchical Bayesian prediction errors. This theory of the Bayesian brain hypothesizes that the brain constantly compares its internal milieu with changing environmental cues and either adjusts its predictions or discards the change, depending on the novelty or salience of the external stimulus. We propose that adaptive plasticity reflects both successful bottom-up compensation and top-down updating of the model while maladaptive plasticity reflects failure in one or both mechanisms, resulting in a constant prediction-error. Finally, we hypothesize that phantom percepts are generated by the brain as a solution to this prediction error and are thus a manifestation of unsuccessful adaptation to sensory deprivation.

© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | | | | |
|-----------------------|---|---|----|--|--|
| 2. | Mechanisms of adaptive compensation | | | | |
| | 2.1. | 1. Cross-modal plasticity | | | |
| | | 2.1.1. Cross-modal recruitment and compensation | 00 | | |
| | | 2.1.2. Cross-modal plasticity in late sensory deprivation | 00 | | |
| | 2.2. | Homeostatic and map plasticity | 00 | | |
| | 2.3. Cancellation system | | | | |
| | 2.4. Brain and cognitive reserve | | | | |
| | 2.5. | Compensation through changes in network connectivity | 00 | | |
| | 2.6. | Top-down prediction system | 00 | | |
| 3. | 3. Mechanisms of maladaptive compensation: generation and compensation of cortical salience | | | | |
| 3.1. Phantom percepts | | Phantom percepts | 00 | | |
| | | 3.1.1. Visual phantoms | 00 | | |
| | | 3.1.2. Auditory phantoms | 00 | | |

Abbreviations: EEG, electroencephalography; fMRI, functional magnetic resonance imaging; PET, positron emission tomography; GABA, gamma amino butyric acid; HAROLD, hemispheric asymmetric reduction in older adults; CRUNCH, compensatory-related utilization of neural circuits.

* Corresponding author at: Lab for Clinical & Integrative Neuroscience, School of Behavioral & Brain Sciences, University of Texas at Dallas, 800 W Campbell Rd, Richardson, TX 75080, USA. website: http://www.lab-clint.org.

E-mail address: sven.vanneste@utdallas.edu (S. Vanneste).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2017.03.010 0301-0082/© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

2

ARTICLE IN PRESS

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste/Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx

| | | 3.1.3. Somatosensory phantoms | 00 |
|----|---------|---|----|
| | | 3.1.4. Smell and taste phantoms | 00 |
| | | 3.1.5. Vestibular phantoms | 00 |
| | 3.2. | Disruption of body schema and neuro-matrix | 00 |
| | 3.3. | Failed integration of self-referential and external sensory input | 00 |
| | 3.4. | Maladaptive cross-modal plasticity | 00 |
| | 3.5. | Thalamo-cortical dysrhythmia | 00 |
| | 3.6. | Maladaptive map plasticity | 00 |
| | 3.7. | Maladaptive changes in functional connectivity | 00 |
| | 3.8. | Failed cancellation and top-down prediction mechanisms | 00 |
| | 3.9. | Compensation of cortical salience: the "filling-in" mechanism | 00 |
| 4. | Clinica | al applications and future directions | 00 |
| 5. | Conclu | usion: the universal construct of adaptive and maladaptive neural compensation of sensory deafferentation | 00 |
| | Ackno | wledgement | 00 |
| | Refere | ences | 00 |
| | | | |

1. Introduction

It is generally agreed that the brain creates an internal representation of the environment that it is exposed to (Friston, 2012; Friston et al., 2006). Bottom-up sensory information received by the brain is constantly compared with this internal representation, leading to predictions about the causes of changes in sensory information (Friston, 2005). This process takes place in a hierarchical fashion, such that the beliefs of each level of bottomup information are estimated by top-down predictions from the succeeding levels (Penny, 2012). Changes in environmental stimuli result in prediction errors (Arnal and Giraud, 2012) between the bottom-up information and top-down predictions (De Ridder et al., 2014b; Friston, 2009; Friston et al., 2006). These changes can be due to an enrichment or impoverishment in environmental stimuli. Damage to peripheral sensory structures or central processing centers leads to sensory deprivation, exposing the brain to decreased sensory input which results in sensory uncertainty. This uncertainty may be minimized by either (a) active sampling of the new environment providing corresponding bottom-up cues and/or (b) appropriate updating of top-down beliefs by the successive levels of the hierarchy (De Ridder et al., 2014b; Friston, 2012; Friston et al., 2006).

In general terms, compensation may be defined as the process of overcoming losses and deficits through one of several neural mechanisms (Dixon and Bäckman, 1999). Evidence for the brain's bottom-up compensatory ability is provided in both neural and cognitive domains. Examples of the brain's bottom-up compensatory techniques include increased activity in sensory and nonsensory regions of the brain (Vanneste and De Ridder, 2012), reorganization of cortical maps following amputation of an extremity (Knecht et al., 1996), extensive cross-modal plasticity of neurons in early loss of a sensory domain (Bavelier and Neville, 2002b; Cohen et al., 1997), and recruitment of bilateral neural resources with aging in cognitively normal adults (Cabeza et al., 2002). Conversely, a top-down compensation mechanism for sensory deafferentation is the successful adjustment of the prediction model at different levels of the hierarchy by learning the changes in bottom-up input (De Ridder et al., 2014b). Updating the prediction model at different hierarchical levels follows a Bayesian statistical approach (Friston, 2005). Empirical Bayes is a method of arriving at statistical inferences by setting prior beliefs based on existing data and updating these beliefs based on new data. This involuntary bottom-up sampling of the environment and top-down updating of prior beliefs is popularly known as the Bayesian brain theory (Friston, 2012), which may be used as a universal construct to explain how the brain adapts to new environments by successfully minimizing sensory uncertainty. Although the brain is very resilient to local and global damages (Alstott et al., 2009; David and Aguayo, 1981; Kaas et al., 1983; Kaiser et al., 2007), the success of both bottom-up and top-down compensatory techniques heavily depends on the time of incidence of the damage. The sensitive or critical period is the time frame in the lifespan of the brain within which it is most susceptible to changes in behavioral and biological development (Kral, 2013). Since the brain is most plastic in the early years of life, compensatory mechanisms for sensory deprivation seem to differ depending on congenital, early, or late-onset of sensory damage.

Adaptive compensation could be achieved through changes in the bottom-up mechanism or top-down updating of a prediction error. However, if these adaptive mechanisms fail, irrespective of the time of incidence of sensory damage, the system needs to compensate for the prevailing uncertainty in alternative ways. This is engineered through maladaptive compensation-by the generation of a phantom percept (De Ridder et al., 2014b). Phantom perception is the experience of a sensory representation (vision, audition, touch, olfaction, gustation, balance, or proprioception) in the absence of an external sensory stimulus (Jastreboff, 1990; Ramachandran and Rogers-Ramachandran, 1996; Schultz and Melzack, 1991; Yanagisawa et al., 1998). The pathways of the different sensory domains from the peripheral receptors to their primary sensory cortices are illustrated in Fig. 1. In general, phantom percepts seem to occur in response to sensory deprivation, specifically damage to peripheral structures such as receptors (Grouios, 2002; Jastreboff, 1990), nerves (Eggermont, 2005; Wrobel and Leopold, 2004), or damage to early stages of sensory processing in the brainstem and cortex (Ramachandran, 1993). They have also been observed as a common after-effect of surgeries such as cataract surgery (Schultz and Melzack, 1991), tonsillectomy (Tomofuji et al., 2005), etc. Although there are ongoing debates about phantom percepts in congenital and early sensory deprivation, their relation to late sensory deprivation is universally accepted.

The aim of this article is to review the literature on bottom-up and top-down adaptive compensatory techniques in congenital, early and late sensory deprivation and phantom percepts in all sensory domains, proposing a universal construct for adaptive and maladaptive compensation of sensory deafferentation. In this article, we will first review different bottom-up and top-down adaptive compensatory techniques employed by the brain in response to congenital, early, and late-onset sensory deprivation. We will then review the phantom percepts in different sensory domains and detail the maladaptive compensatory mechanisms behind their generation. In doing so, we suggest that phantom percepts may be a maladaptive compensatory manifestation to offset the inability of the brain to adapt to decreased sensory input independent of the sensory domain and the time of incidence of deprivation.

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste / Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx



Fig. 1. Sensory pathways to the brain. The figure shows the pathways of the (a) visual, (b) auditory (c) somatosensory, (d) gustatory, (e) vestibular and (f) olfactory systems from the receptors to their respective primary sensory cortices in the brain.

2. Mechanisms of adaptive compensation

Sensory deafferentation results from the partial or complete loss of peripheral and/or central structures causing functional disability to one or more sensory domains. Nevertheless, the brain finds a way to successfully cope with such losses, leading to adaptive changes whose success depends on the age of incidence of the deafferentation. Patients with congenital or early sensory deafferentation cope more successfully than patients who suffer sensory losses later in their life. However, even with late sensory deafferentation, the absence of phantom symptoms still reflects successful adaptation to decreased sensory input. From the vast literature on adaptive compensation of sensory deafferentation, we observe different routes taken by the brain in congenital, early and late sensory deafferentation. These include different bottomup mechanisms such as cross-modal plasticity (dominant in congenital and early stages and less in the later stages), homeostatic and map plasticity, recruitment of neural reserves, changes in connectivity between sensory and non-sensory areas, thalamic-limbic cancellation of irrelevant stimuli, or top-down mechanisms such as shifting to a new reference point. These different routes of adaptive compensation for sensory loss are described below in detail and summarized in Table 1.

2.1. Cross-modal plasticity

There is much anecdotal evidence supporting better hearing and tactile acuity in the blind and unique communication abilities in the deaf and mute. Research shows that such behavioral manifestations are a consequence of cross-modal plasticity (Bavelier and Neville, 2002b). Cross-modal plasticity is the adaptive reorganization of neurons integrating two or more sensory systems (Kupers and Ptito, 2014; Rauschecker, 1995). Such reorganization is shown to occur extensively in congenital and early deprivation of sensory input and less extensively in late deprivation (Bavelier and Neville, 2002b; Lazzouni and Lepore, 2014). Cross-modal plasticity is observed both in simple organisms such as C. Elegans with only 302 neurons and in complex species such as humans (Rabinowitch and Bai, 2016a). Although recent studies report worse performance by congenitally deprived individuals when compared to normal adults in certain tasks (Gori et al., 2014), congenitally blind individuals seem to have better auditory pitch discrimination (Gougoux et al., 2004) and tactile discrimination (Alary et al., 2008) as well as superior odor and taste discrimination abilities (Araneda et al., 2016b; Kupers and Ptito, 2014). Further, congenitally deaf individuals have better visual selective attention and better memory of faces and objects

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste / Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx

4

Table 1

Summary of mechanisms of adaptive plasticity.

| Onset of deafferentation | Mechanism | Description |
|-------------------------------|---|---|
| Congenital and early-onset | Cross-modal plasticity | Cross modal recruitment: where remaining intact sensory modalities take over the deprived sensory cortex, functionally and neuro-biologically. This can be explained by the axonal sprouting of the neurons from the intact sensory cortices, populating the regions in the deprived modality. Cross-modal compensation: where changes take place in the remaining intact cortices e.g. expansion of topographic maps to compensate for the loss in the deprived cortex. |
| | Cross-modal plasticity | Cross-modal plasticity has been shown in late-onset as well; however, there are ongoing discussions about its extensiveness. |
| Late onset | Homeostatic and map plasticity Bottom-up cancellation system Neural reserves Functional connectivity Top-down modulation system | Increase in spontaneous firing in the deafferented cortex leading to an increase in "central gain". This may or may not lead to expansion of topographic maps of the deprived cortex. Increase in spontaneous activity in the ascending pathways in the presence of a deafferentation is cancelled out at the level of the thalamus by a cortico-limbic cancellation system. Recruitment of extra neural resources to offset sensory deprivation and maintain cognitive competency. Changes in functional connectivity between different brain areas is witnessed as a compensatory effect of sensory deprivation. Successful hierarchical updating of the Bayesian prediction error reflecting successful adaptation of the brain of the changing bottom-up needs. |

compared to their normal counterparts (Arnold and Murray, 1998; Bavelier et al., 2000; Dye et al., 2009). Many blind individuals use a phenomenon called echolocation to navigate in space. Echolocation is a special form of spatial hearing, where individuals produce sounds using their mouth, foot, cane etc. to scan the environment and use the subsequent echoes for spatial navigation (Griffin, 1944). Electrophysiological studies in animals and humans show that cross-modal plasticity notably takes two courses: (a) crossmodal recruitment and (b) cross-modal compensation (Lee and Whitt, 2015; Rabinowitch and Bai, 2016a).

2.1.1. Cross-modal recruitment and compensation

Cross-modal recruitment is the recruitment of the deprived sensory cortex by other sensory modalities (Rabinowitch and Bai, 2016a). This is an example of the classical theory of plasticity in which dormant parts of the deprived sensory cortices are populated by neurons of other intact sensory modalities. Evidence for retinotopy and spatial orientation of neurons in the primary somatosensory and auditory cortices of ferrets and hamsters show that cross-modal recruitment of the primary visual cortex may be induced by early surgical intervention (Bavelier and Neville, 2002a; Métin and Frost, 1989; Sur et al., 1988). Cross-modal recruitment of the visual cortex by the auditory cortex has also been demonstrated in congenitally deaf cats (Bavelier and Neville, 2002a; Rebillard et al., 1977). In humans, several neuroimaging studies show crossmodal activation of visual areas to somatosensory stimuli (Büchel et al., 1998; Sadato et al., 1996) and auditory areas to visual (Finney et al., 2001; Nishimura et al., 1999) and somatosensory stimuli (Levänen et al., 1998). Recent studies also show that improved odor detection and awareness may result from parts of the visual area being taken over by the olfactory cortex (Araneda et al., 2016a).

Cross-modal compensation involves compensatory reorganization of the remaining sensory cortices to elevate the performance of the deprived sensory capability (Rabinowitch and Bai, 2016b). The visual (DeYoe et al., 1996), somatosensory (Schott, 1993), auditory (Eggermont, 2006), olfactory (Vosshall et al., 2000), and gustatory (Chen et al., 2011) systems are organized in a systematic way such that sensory input from specific parts of the sensory epithelium are mapped onto specific regions of the primary sensory cortex. In humans, the topographic organization of the striate, somatosensory, and auditory cortices is better understood than that of the olfactory and gustatory cortices. These topographic maps are not hard-wired but rather change with development and learning, thus adapting to the dynamic environment (Reed et al., 2011). Cross-modal compensation manifests as an expansion of the

maps of the spared sensory cortices to accommodate the sensory deprivation. Early studies in rats show increased dendritic spine density in the auditory cortex following deafferentation of somatic and visual inputs (Bavelier and Neville, 2002a; Ryugo et al., 1975). Similarly, increased performance in spatial navigation accompanied by expansion of the somatosensory maps of the barrel cortex was observed following removal of the eye in mice (Bavelier and Neville, 2002a; Toldi et al., 1994a,b). Plastic changes were not only found in the primary cortices but also in polymodal association cortices. Congenitally blind cats showed greater tuning of auditory spatial cells in the ectosylvian cortex in addition to superior auditory localization (Bavelier and Neville, 2002a; Rauschecker, 1996, 1995). A similar enhancement in spatial tuning was observed in early-blinded humans, corresponding to changes in auditory evoked response potentials (Bavelier and Neville, 2002a; Röder et al., 1999). Furthermore, larger and faster somatosensory and auditory evoked responses in blind individuals not only provide further evidence for cross-modal recruitment but also support cross-modal expansion of spare modalities in humans (Bavelier and Neville, 2002a; Kujala et al., 1995; Röder et al., 1996).

2.1.2. Cross-modal plasticity in late sensory deprivation

Like congenital and early sensory deprivation, late sensory deprivation may be followed by cross-modal plasticity in the form of both cross-modal recruitment and cross-modal compensation in the presence of extensive deafferentation, such as loss of the entire sensory modality. Animal and human research supports the occurrence of cross-modal plasticity in the deprived adult brain. Electrophysiological recordings from ferrets deafened after their mature age show extensive cross-modal recruitment of somatosensory neurons (Allman et al., 2009). In fact, approximately 84% of their auditory neurons responded to somatosensory input. Similarly, removal of one eye in mature adult rats showed crossmodal innervation by somatosensory inputs (Van Brussel et al., 2011). In humans, indirect cross-modal plasticity was shown through differences in evoked potential responses to deviant tones in posterior areas in late blindness (Kujala et al., 1997). Researchers regard this as the unmasking of existent cortico-cortico connections between different modalities and subsequent recruitment of the deprived cortex by the axonal sprouting of neurons from other modalities (Allman et al., 2009). However, this could also be explained by the concept of "neural Darwinism" which postulates that the dendrites of the neurons from the deafferented cortex actively search for inputs and synapse with neurons of other modalities in order to avoid apoptosis (Edelman, 1993). Other

studies showed cross-modal compensation in the spare cortices, such as expansion of tonotopic maps in the auditory cortex as a compensatory consequence of blindness in the mature adult cortex (Elbert et al., 2002). However, there are also studies that dispute this level of cross-modal plasticity in the adult cortex. Differential patterns of activation between early and late-blind individuals in the striate and extrastriate regions using both PET and fMRI, indicate a decreased extent of cross-modal plasticity in late sensory deprivation (Büchel et al., 1998; Burton, 2003; Cohen et al., 1999; Sadato et al., 2002). Cross-modal activation in late deprivation is suspected to reflect mental imagery of visual stimuli that was formed prior to blindness (Büchel et al., 1998). The extent of cross-modal plasticity is hypothesized to decrease after a period of sensitivity or "critical period". This critical period has mostly been agreed upon as early to mid-adolescence (Cohen et al., 1999; Hensch, 2005; Sadato et al., 2002), after which the brain is hypothesized to become less susceptible to adaptive cross-modal plasticity.

2.2. Homeostatic and map plasticity

In addition to cross-modal innervation of sensory domains, adaptive compensation also involves hyperactivity and plasticity of unimodal sensory representations corresponding to the domain of deafferentation. Homeostasis is the tendency of a physiological system to maintain equilibrium. Homeostatic plasticity in neural circuits is the ability to maintain constant neural activity without becoming hyper or hypo-active (Turrigiano and Nelson, 2004). Increases in activity are corrected by local negative feedback loops that bring the activity back to normal levels (Sterling and Ever. 1988). In mild sensory deafferentation, increases in the spontaneous rate of neuronal firing in the primary sensory cortex reflect an increase in "central gain" in order to make up for the decreased input from the bottom-up processes (Noreña and Farley, 2013). Homeostatic increases in "central gain" have been shown in various animals (Kotak et al., 2005; Seki and Eggermont, 2003). Homeostatic recruitment of auditory nerve fibers is the rationale behind the sudden increase in perceived loudness of a suprathreshold sound (i.e. hyperacusis) to compensate for deafferentaion (Cai et al., 2009). Such sudden recruitment may lead to the unimodal expansion of topographic maps. In the auditory domain, this map expansion is defined by a shift in characteristic frequency of the deafferented region to the adjacent frequencies (Norena et al., 2003). This has been hypothesized to be the result of changes in the excitation/inhibition balance leading to reduced lateral inhibition of the inputs feeding in from the neighboring frequency bands, thus "unmasking" these connections (Norena et al., 2003). This concept coincides with the classical theory of axonal sprouting of neurons in adjacent areas taking over a deafferented area. A counter-argument was made by De Ridder and colleagues stating that this map plasticity could be the product of dendritic sprouting of neurons from the deafferented area seeking input from the adjacent healthy areas, thereby supporting the hypothesis of neural Darwinism representing the memory of the deafferented areas, termed Darwinian plasticity (De Ridder and Van de Heyning, 2007).

2.3. Cancellation system

Another route taken by the brain to compensate for sensory loss through a bottom-up mechanism is via the thalamic-limbic cancellation system. The thalamus forms an important gateway into the cortex, acting as a relay system and maintaining different states of consciousness (Sherman and Guillery, 1996; Timofeev et al., 2012). Bottom-up input from all the sensory systems except the olfactory system are relayed to the cortex through different

thalamic nuclei by means of third-order neurons. Mild, moderate, or severe deafferentation have been proposed to be cancelled out at the level of the thalamus by a sub-cortical limbic cancellation system (Rauschecker et al., 2010a). This prevents any erroneous signals from reaching the cortex. This cancellation system is proposed to consist of the interaction between the serotonergic cells of the sub-cortical limbic structures and the Gamma Amino Butvric Acid (GABAergic) cells of the thalamocortical loop (Rauschecker et al., 2010b). The thalamic reticular nucleus is a reservoir of GABAergic cells that exhibit a strong inhibitory effect on the thalamocortical and cortico-thalamic loops (Pinault, 2004). All sensory modalities, except the olfactory system, are connected to the cortex through the thalamus via thalamic reticular cells. However, a recent study proposed the presence of an olfactory thalamus in the olfactory bulb where the inhibitory role of the thalamic reticular cells is taken over by the granule cells (Kay and Sherman, 2007). Serotonergic cells modulate the cortico-striatal pathways that are responsible for encoding reward, awareness, and motivation. The ventromedial prefrontal cortex-part of the default mode network of the brain that controls the resting state dynamics (Raichle, 2015)-and the nucleus accumbens-part of the ventral striatum (Leaver et al., 2011)-together form a part of the corticostriatal pathway that modulates the sensory thalamocortical loops. The ventro-medial prefrontal cortex has been shown to exhibit an excitatory influence on the nucleus accumbens (Leaver et al., 2011). Rauschecker and colleagues hypothesize that the interaction of the serotonergic cells of the nucleus accumbens, the ventromedial prefrontal cortex, and the GABAergic cells of the thalamic reticular nucleus produce a powerful inhibitory effect on the thalamic relay cells (Rauschecker et al., 2010b). In the presence of deafferentation, the hyperactivation of the ascending pathways creates a noise signal. A healthy cancellation system would inhibit this noise signal from reaching cortical consciousness, thus explaining the absence of salience even in the presence of deafferentation.

2.4. Brain and cognitive reserve

Different models of modulating cognitive abilities can also explain bottom-up compensation of sensory deafferentation as methods employed by the brain to look for more information. The concept of a reserve was introduced in order to account for the disjunction between the degree of brain damage to its clinical manifestations (Stern, 2009). Reserve can be widely classified into two kinds - active and passive models. Passive models of reserve include the concept of brain reserves which take into account the structural diversity and physical robustness of the brain including neuronal count, size of the brain, number of synapses, etc. (Satz et al., 2011). Brain reserves act as a structural buffer in order to compensate for cognitive capabilities. People having larger brains or higher neuronal count may need a larger extent of brain damage to be cognitively disabled than people with smaller brains would. Active models include the use of top-down cognitive reserves in order to cope with decreased input. Cognitive reserve includes a variety of environmental factors such as education, social activities, hobbies, entertainment, etc. that might be altered by experience, providing a dynamic buffer for cognitive compensation (Barulli and Stern, 2013). Cognitive compensation has been proposed to be governed by two neural mechanisms - neural reserve and neural compensation (Stern, 2006). Neural reserve is the presence of efficient cognitive networks and greater flexibility in network selection in order to overcome deficits in brain damage. Neural compensation is the recruitment of more brain areas or networks in order to maintain cognitive competence (Barulli and Stern, 2013). The concept of brain and cognitive reserve was discussed together for the first time by Nithianantharajah and Hannan wherein they review animal models that investigate the

effects of modifying physical and mental activity and their association with brain and cognitive reserve (Nithianantharajah and Hannan, 2009).

Reduced sensory input to the brain is one of the characteristic effects of aging. With increasing age, there is evidence for increased auditory pure-tone thresholds (Homans et al., 2016), decreased visual function (Martínez-Roda et al., 2016), decreased speech intelligibility in a noisy background (Lu et al., 2016), decreased balance (Santos et al., 2016), decreased olfactory function (Wang et al., 2016), decreased tactile acuity (Lenz et al., 2012), etc. In addition to changes in behavioral parameters, there are also changes in structural and functional patterns in the brain. A decrease in grey matter density (Fjell et al., 2009, 2012; Salat et al., 2004) and white matter integrity (Sexton et al., 2014; Westlye et al., 2009), as well as slowing of stimulus evoked potentials in different sensory domains (Hunter, 2016; Larson et al., 2016) have been observed with aging. However, in healthy aging some of these parameters are not statistically different from healthy young adults, which is evidence for both neural reserve and neural compensation. It is observed that individuals with comparable behavioral thresholds to their younger peers have increased bilateral prefrontal cortex activation compared to unilateral activation in older adults with decreased cognitive abilities (Cabeza et al., 2002). Such asymmetry in neural responses is termed Hemispheric Asymmetric Reduction in Older adults, also known as the HAROLD model, and explains the neural compensatory mechanism for cognitive preservation in older adults (Cabeza, 2002). Although the HAROLD model could explain the recruitment of neural resources, it only provides an explanation for recruitment of bilateral resources. Alternative studies showed an increase in unilateral recruitment of neural resources which can be explained by another recent model, named the Compensatory-Related Utilization of Neural Circuits (CRUNCH) (Berlingeri et al., 2013). CRUNCH posits that neural recruitment does not necessarily involve the contralateral cortex but may also involve recruitment of more areas from the ipsilateral cortex itself.

HAROLD and CRUNCH are models exclusively presented for aging, although recruitment of neural resources is not restricted to aging-related changes. Recruitment of contralateral neural resources is shown in rehabilitation related to stroke, aphasia, and other neurological disorders. A recent study showed that recruitment of neural resources may also be observed in healthy young adults when the difficulty of a task is increased (Du et al., 2014). Thus, recruitment of neural resources may be a compensatory technique to offset cognitive decline due to changing environmental cues.

2.5. Compensation through changes in network connectivity

Deafferentation not only changes the activity but also the functional connectivity between different brain regions sampling the brain for compensatory information for the loss of input. Changes in functional connectivity are not only reflected in regions close to the deafferented site but also in regions that are anatomically distant (Fornito et al., 2015). Changes in functional connectivity between sensory and non-sensory regions have been established after sensory deprivation in almost all sensory domains. Increased connectivity between bilateral primary auditory cortices, auditory association areas, basal ganglia, and insula is observed following sensorineural hearing loss (Liu et al., 2015). Similarly increased functional connectivity was reported between the Broca's area, calcarine sulcus, and extratriate regions such as the inferior and superior occipital gyri with decreased visual input. In addition, these patients also demonstrated increased functional connectivity between Broca's area and the lingual, inferior temporal, and medial parts of the superior frontal gyri in comparison to a control group (Sabbah et al., 2016). Reorganization of networks connecting the somatosensory cortex and the insula is also reported as a result of damage to somatosensory nerve fibers (Čeko et al., 2013). Similarly, changes in functional connectivity between sensory and extra-sensory regions have been reported in cases of vestibular and olfactory deprivation as well (Alsalman et al., 2016; Kollndorfer et al., 2015).

Changes in functional connectivity between different brain areas may constitute an adaptive mechanism to cope with loss of sensory input. Fornito and colleagues propose that such changes can be brought about as a result of one of three mechanisms -(a)compensation (b) changes in neural reserve and (c) degeneracy (Fornito et al., 2015). Compensation is the process of increasing the function of distant unaffected areas by increasing their activity or functional connectivity, to compensate for loss of function at affected sites. Changes in neural reserve involve recruitment of neural resources to preserve functionality in areas associated with the affected site and behaviorally cope with the loss of functionality of the affected site. Degeneracy is the functional overlap of brain regions described as either the phenomenon of a network of regions carrying out the same task or the multimodal ability of certain regions to carry out different tasks. Either way, sensory deafferentation may be adaptively compensated by overlapping functional modules of different brain regions.

2.6. Top-down prediction system

Adaptive compensation of sensory loss may not only be compensated by bottom-up but also by top-down mechanisms. For a long time, it was believed that the aim of bodily functions was simply to maintain homeostasis. Recently, an alternative theory was presented in which the authors argued that trying to maintain a constant set point by every organ would not be a very efficient way to manage bodily resources. On the other hand, it was proposed that bodily resources were managed and distributed to other organs according to their demand by one central control center, namely the brain (Sterling, 2012). According to this theory, the proposed aim of bodily functions is to adjust the internal milieu with respect to changing environmental needs, in other words, allostasis. Allostasis also states that the brain makes predictions about the bodily needs by setting prior beliefs about its environment and updating these beliefs based on bottom-up input (Sterling, 2012). In other words, allostasis refers to the concept of "stability through change" where it creates an 'error' signal when the set prior beliefs are not met and is responsible for involving the whole brain and body to allocate resources in order to minimize this error (Sterling and Eyer, 1988). The concept of allostasis thus goes together with the theory of hierarchical updating of Bayesian prediction errors in the brain in the presence of sensory deafferentation (De Ridder et al., 2014b; Friston, 2009, 2012; Friston et al., 2006). This theory, also known as the theory of the Bayesian brain, also postulates that the brain creates prior beliefs or predictions of the next upcoming input based on its internal representation of the environment it has been exposed to over a period of time (Friston, 2009, 2012; Friston et al., 2006). In the presence of sensory deafferentation, the brain samples the new environment with the aim to provide bottom-up input for the hierarchical updating of prior beliefs. Successful updating of the model would reflect "stability through change" or allostasis. Thus, the theory of the Bayesian brain may be regarded as a mechanism of allostatic plasticity.

It has been shown that the Bayesian prediction-errors between the bottom-up cues and the top-down predictions are encoded by the anterior cingulate cortex, specifically the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (Hayden et al., 2011; Ide et al., 2013). The dorsal anterior cingulate cortex and the anterior insula have been shown to be a part of the salience network (Seeley et al., 2007) that assigns

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste/Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx

top-down goal-directed salience to a prediction error, which determines the relative importance of an external stimulus with respect to the internal environment. This salience is integrated with the reward-system of the brain by other subcortical limbic structures such as the nucleus accumbens, ventral tegmental area, and the ventral striatum (Cooper and Knutson, 2008; Seeley et al., 2007; Yin et al., 2008). Depending on the salience and the associated reward, the hierarchical model is updated in a Bayesian statistical manner in order to minimize the salience and the associated surprise, thereby successfully adapting to a changing environment (Friston, 2009; Friston et al., 2006). The updating has been proposed to be taken care of by the nucleus accumbens, along with the ventral striatum and ventromedial prefrontal cortex, forming a frontostriatal gating system (Rauschecker et al., 2015) for "top-down modulation" of salient stimuli.

3. Mechanisms of maladaptive compensation: generation and compensation of cortical salience

Although the brain tries to sample the new environment using the mechanisms mentioned above, insufficient bottom-up compensatory cues following congenital, early, and late sensory deprivation; failed top-down belief updating; or the inability to integrate multisensory cues – all lead to the prevalence of an uncertainty. The failure of adaptive compensation techniques to accommodate sensory deprivation calls for alternative ways to compensate for sensory uncertainty, such as the generation of a phantom percept.

3.1. Phantom percepts

Phantom percepts primarily occur because of sensory deafferentation and may be a maladaptive solution to compensate for sensory uncertainty. Mechanisms responsible for the generation of these phantom percepts may sometimes result from the failure of adaptive compensatory techniques. The different phantom percepts and their mechanisms of generation are detailed below.

Table 2

Summary of phantom percepts in different sensory domains.

Table 2 gives a summary of the phantom percepts in congenital, early, and late sensory deprivation in the different sensory domains.

3.1.1. Visual phantoms

One of the unique qualities of the visual system is that visual phantoms are an everyday experience in all individuals. The location where the optic nerve leaves the retina is deprived of photoreceptors and is called the 'blind spot'. This 'blind spot' is also described as a 'black hole' in the visual field since it forms a natural scotoma (De Weerd, 2006), or a region which receives no visual input (Ramachandran, 1993). The phenomenon of the perception of flawless bifocal vision even in the presence of a natural scotoma is described as the perceptual 'filling-in' of missing information (De Weerd, 2006). Perceptual filling-in is also experienced as the filling of object space with background texture (Ramachandran, 1993), completion of surfaces (Grossberg, 2003), contours (Peterhans and von der Heydt, 1989; von der Heydt et al., 1984), and color (Sasaki and Watanabe, 2004). The perception of impossible shapes such as Penrose shapes, the devil's fork, the Mobius strip, the Dancing elephant, etc. are other famous examples of perceptual filling and how it allows us to make sense of the world around us.

However, other visual phantoms are a product of sensory deprivation. Hallucinations of patterns, disfigured shapes of people, and phosphenes of different colors were reported in patients with lesions to the optic chiasm and optic tract (Cogan, 1973). Partial excision of the frontal lobe due to meningioma could result in patients reporting both simple and complex hallucinations (Cogan, 1973). One of the rare, yet popular visual phantoms is the perception of complex images such as faces of people, landscapes, animals, and trees in inappropriate scenarios following deafferentation of visual input, known as Charles Bonnet Syndrome (Schadlu et al., 2009; Schultz and Melzack, 1991). It most commonly occurs in older people with compromised vision because of macular degeneration (Kester, 2009), surgical removal of tumors, epilepsy, cataract surgeries, or electrical stimulation of the amygdala or temporal cortex (Schultz and Melzack, 1991).

| Onset of deafferentation | Sensory domain | Cause | Phantom percepts |
|-------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--|--|
| Congenital and early-onset | Vision Audition Somatosensory | Early-onset blindness Early-onset deafness Congenital or early amputation, contradicting visual input from someone with intact body schema | Charles Bonnet syndrome Tinnitus Phantom limb syndrome |
| Late-onset | Vision | Surgical causes: Enucleation, evisceration, exteneration, cataract surgery, electrical stimulation Lesions to central processing centers such as tumors, infarcts and trauma Degenerative causes: Macular degeneration, epilepsy | Phosphenes; kaleidoscopic vision in color and black and white; pleasant images of flowers; horrific images of coffins; Charles Bonnet syndrome |
| | Audition | Noise-induced, hidden or age-related hearing loss Moderate to severe deafness, focal brain lesions | Continuous subjective tinnitus Musical hallucinosis |
| | Somatosensory | Damage to peripheral nerves, spinal cord Amputation of an extremity | Neuropathic pain Phantom limb pain |
| | Olfaction | Conductive losses: obstruction to nasal air flow, chronic rhinosinusitis, polyps, nasal tumors Sensorineural damage: head trauma, infection to upper respiratory tract. damage to olfactory receptor neurons | Phantosmia – smelling pleasant and unpleasant odors Parosmia – change in the smell of items. |
| | Gustation | Sensorineural damage: Head trauma, damage to thalamus, brainstem, infection of upper respiratory tract, exposure to toxic substances Surgical effects: Surgery of chorda-tympani, glossopharumgal or yagus perve, tonscillectomy | Phantogeusia – persistent bitter or metallic taste Dysgeusia – change in the taste of items. |
| | Vestibular | Surgical causes: Resection of vestibular schwannoma Changes in gravitational environment Caloric and galvanic vestibular stimulation Damage to otocania, decreased multisensory integration | Dizziness, Mal de debarquement, "room-tilt" illusion, mis-ownership of body parts, autoscopic phenomenon – autoscopic hallucinations, heautoscopy, feeling of presence, out of the body experience |

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste/Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx

There are accounts of the occurrence of Charles Bonnet Syndrome in early visual deprivation as well (Schwartz and Vahgei, 1998).

input is used to reinforce the position of the phantom (Chan et al., 2007; Deconinck et al., 2015; Ramachandran et al., 1998).

3.1.2. Auditory phantoms

Auditory phantoms are the perception of simple or complex sounds in the absence of external auditory input (Jastreboff, 1990; Vanneste et al., 2013). Simple auditory phantoms such as the intermittent or continuous perception of a ringing, buzzing, or hissing sound are collectively called tinnitus (Jastreboff, 1990; Møller et al., 2010). Although tinnitus may be caused due to temporary inconsistencies in the auditory periphery (Møller et al., 2010), it is believed to be a result of deafferentation of auditory input, either by means of noise trauma (Attias et al., 1993; Axelsson and Sandh, 1985; Jansen et al., 2009) or due to progressive hearing loss due to aging (Nicolas-Puel et al., 2002; Rosenhall and Karlsson, 1991; Szymiec et al., 2002).

A more complex type of phantom auditory sound, called musical hallucinosis, is the perception of vocal or instrumental music perceived in the absence of an external stimulus (Berrios, 1990; Keshavan et al., 1992). This phenomenon is attributed to be the auditory analogue of Charles Bonnet Syndrome (Evers, 2006; Evers and Ellger, 2004; Griffiths, 2000; Hosty, 1994). Although there are several etiologies to the incidence of musical hallucinosis (Evers, 2006; Evers and Ellger, 2004), moderate to severe deafness and focal brain lesions have been identified to be the most common causes of the disorder (Baurier and Tuca, 1996; Griffiths, 2000; Hammeke et al., 1983; Warren and Schott, 2006). Other lesion-deficit studies also report the incidence of musical hallucinosis in patients with brainstem lesions (Baurier and Tuca. 1996; Gordon, 1997), thalamocortical radiation infracts (Woo et al., 2014), and resection of insular gliomas (Isolan et al., 2010). Interestingly, several reviews and case studies suggest that the music heard by the patients are repetitive verses from songs that are familiar to the patients or other people (Hammeke et al., 1983; Inzelberg et al., 1993; Miller and Crosby, 1979; Vitorovic and Biller, 2014; Warren and Schott, 2006).

3.1.3. Somatosensory phantoms

Phantom sensations in the somatosensory domain could result from damage to the peripheral nerves, damage to the spinal cord (Baron, 2006; Woolf and Mannion, 1999), or the amputation of an extremity (Flor, 2002, 2008; Ramachandran, 1993; Rasmussen et al., 2011). Damage to peripheral nerves or the spinal cord could result in a condition called neuropathic pain (Baron, 2006; Woolf and Mannion, 1999). Amputation of an extremity that is mapped to the somatosensory cortex such as arms, legs, parts of the face, fingers, toes, genitals, eyes, etc. could lead to one of the most famous somatosensory phantoms, phantom limb pain (Flor, 2002, 2008; Ramachandran, 1993; Rasmussen et al., 2011). Similar to the phantom limb phenomenon in adults post-amputation, phantom limbs have been reported in early amputation in children (Melzack et al., 1997; Poeck, 1964) and even in people born with congenital aplasia (Poeck, 1964; Saadah and Melzack, 1994; Weinstein et al., 1964).

Like phantoms in other domains, phantom limb pain and neuropathic pain have been categorized as disorders of the central nervous system resulting from peripheral damage (Flor et al., 2006). In addition to activation of the primary somatosensory and motor cortices (on movement of the phantoms), there is also evidence for the activation of non-somatomotor brain areas in phantom and chronic neuropathic pain. Neuropathic pain has hence been proposed to be a connectivity disorder, where aversive memory networks fill in for the missing somatomotor information because of aberrant functional connections (De Ridder et al., 2011). On the other hand, phantom pain has been proposed to be the result of competing somatomotor and visual inputs, wherein visual

3.1.4. Smell and taste phantoms

Olfactory disorders provide important clues about endocrinologic changes in the body (Levy and Henkin, 2003) and act as precursors to damage to brain structures due to head trauma (Callahan and Hinkebein, 2002) or ischemia (Beume et al., 2015). Gustatory cues are important in evaluating loss of appetite, malnutrition, and unintended weight loss (Maheswaran et al., 2014) and also accompany smell disorders most of the time (Stevenson and Langdon, 2012; Wrobel and Leopold, 2004). Damage to peripheral structures in both sensory domains leads to diminished or total loss of functionality, often leading to phantom perceptions in both domains (Stevenson and Langdon, 2012).

Phantosmia is the phantom perception of a smell, usually unpleasant, in the absence of an external odorant stimulus (Grouios, 2002; Leopold et al., 2002). This could be caused due to a disruption in olfactory function by conductive losses which include obstruction of the nasal airflow due to chronic rhinosinusitis (Cowart et al., 1997; DiFabio et al., 2009; Wrobel and Leopold, 2004), polyps, or nasal tumors (Cowart et al., 1997; Wrobel and Leopold, 2004). This damage may also occur due to sensorineural impairment such as loss of olfactory receptor neurons, insult to the olfactory bulb due to head trauma in accidents, infection of the upper respiratory tract, or other forms of damage to the olfactory receptor neurons (Cowart et al., 1997; Grouios, 2002; Leopold, 2002; Schechter and Henkin, 1974; Wrobel and Leopold, 2004). Although phantosmia does not critically impair a person's quality of life, it still impairs the social gratification of consuming tasty food or experiencing pleasant odors (Levy and Henkin, 2003). In addition to damage to peripheral structures, there are also some centrally-observed changes that accompany phantom smelling (Stevenson and Langdon, 2012).

Similarly, disruption in taste perception may result in parageusia (perception of a different taste for an item) or phantogeusia (perception of a taste without the presence of an external taste stimulant) (Cowart et al., 1997; Maheswaran et al., 2014; Wrobel and Leopold, 2004). Taste phantoms mostly co-occur with decreased or complete loss of taste sensitivity (Bartoshuk et al., 2005). Taste phantoms that occur alongside olfactory phantoms are caused due to similar reasons such as head trauma and resulting damage to the thalamus, brainstem, and ventrotemporal lobes; infection of the upper respiratory tract; chronic rhinosinusitis; exposure to toxic substances; etc. (Hummel et al., 2011). They can also be an anesthetic or post-operative effect of surgery to either the chorda tympani nerve (Bartoshuk et al., 2005; Yanagisawa et al., 1998), the glossopharyngeal nerve, or the vagus nerve (Bartoshuk et al., 2005; Hummel et al., 2011), all of which innervate the oral/throat region. A survey of case studies looking at the post-operative effects of tonsillectomy revealed that one of the most common after-effects was the incidence of taste disorders accompanied by phantogeusia (Kim et al., 2006; Leong et al., 2007; Scinska et al., 2008; Temporale et al., 2013).

3.1.5. Vestibular phantoms

Mal de debarquement is a pure vestibular phantom phenomenon where the memory of a certain vestibular event, such as the rocking feeling when going on a boat, is replayed in resting state (Moeller and Lempert, 2007). In healthy adults, alterations in gravitational environment create illusions of tilted extrapersonal space called the "room-tilt illusion" (Brandt and Dieterich, 1999; Querner et al., 1999). Room-tilt illusions occur due to the mismatch between the visual and vestibular 3D maps at the cortical level (Brandt, 1997). Cosmonauts flying in orbit in outer space and flyers

Please cite this article in press as: A. Mohan, S. Vanneste, Adaptive and maladaptive neural compensatory consequences of sensory deprivation—From a phantom percept perspective, Prog. Neurobiol. (2017), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2017.03.010

8

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste/Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx

in parabolic flight report illusions of feeling upside down in a canonically upright space due to the lack of vestibular input in microgravity in an eyes-closed condition (Graybiel and Kellogg, 1967; Kornilova, 1997). These illusions may also occur in patients with pathological conditions such as vestibulocerebellar lesions, lesions to the parieto-occipital or frontal cortices (Malis and Guyot, 2003), or due to a lack of peripheral vestibular input (Malis and Guyot, 2003; Tiliket et al., 1996).

Indirect vestibular phantoms involve conflict between multisensory systems and inaccurate integration of multiple sensory domains, leading to phantom perception in multiple sensory domains (Lopez, 2013). Mis-ownership of body parts can also be invoked by providing conflicting visual and tactile input to the brain in the presence or absence of vestibular stimulation (Lopez et al., 2010). This is famously called the "rubber-hand illusion" where simultaneous tactile stimulation of a rubber hand and the invisible hand of the participant at the same time could cause the participant to attach phantom ownership to the rubber hand (Lopez et al., 2010). A more complex phenomenon of disembodiment combined with altered body ownership as a result of faulty multisensory integration is called the autoscopic phenomenon (Blanke and Mohr, 2005). These are visual hallucinations of the self with or without a sense of disembodiment. One of the famous variations is the 'out-of-the-body experience' which is the visual hallucination of one's own supine body from an elevated position involving both the occurrence of a double and the complete displacement from one's self-referential point (Blanke et al., 2004; Blanke and Mohr, 2005; Lopez et al., 2008). Neuroimaging (Lopez et al., 2008) and neurostimulation (De Ridder et al., 2005) studies reveal that stimulation/lesions to bilateral temporo-parietal junctions and orbito-parietal cortices (Lopez et al., 2008) may result in the autoscopic phenomenon.

Phantom percepts may be generated as a result of a dysfunctional bottom-up compensatory system that failed to rapidly sample the environment and/or a dysfunctional top-down compensatory system that failed to update its prediction resulting in the prevalence of constant salience (De Ridder et al., 2014a). Congenital and early age phantoms are argued to be generated due to a prediction error due to competition between decreased bottom-up input and either an intact body schema, the activity of

mirror neurons activated while looking at someone's intact body schema, or increased bottom-up input due to the use of prosthesis competing with maladaptive cross-modal plasticity. In late sensory deprivation, both failed bottom-up processes such as aberrant thalamocortical rhythms, maladaptive map plasticity, maladaptive changes in functional connectivity, dysfunctional thalamic limbiccancellation, and dysfunctional top-down processes such as updating to a new reference point may be responsible for the generation of phantoms. These concepts are detailed below and summarized in Table 3.

3.2. Disruption of body schema and neuro-matrix

Some scientists believe that the occurrence of congenital and adult phantoms can be attributed to the development of body schemas and neuro-matrices. The concept of body schema stems from the idea of having both self-awareness of our body and a representation of the different parts of the body in the brain. Body schema is defined as the internal, dynamic representation of the spatial and biomechanical properties of one's body (Giummarra et al., 2007). The body schema is developed from the activity triggered in the muscles during intrauterine muscle movements (Bromage and Melzack, 1974). Researchers propose that this schema or body representation in the brain is plastic and can constantly change with learning, use, and environmental stimuli (Oouchida et al., 2016). The body schema is proposed to be modified by sensory inputs from the somatomotor system, proprioceptive system, vestibular system, visual system, and an efference copy of all motor commands that are delivered to the different limbs (Giummarra et al., 2007).

The concept of the "neuro-matrix" was proposed by Melzack in 1990 to explain the occurrence of phantoms in congenital aplasia. The neuro-matrix is considered an extension of the concept of body schema wherein the awareness of one's body parts is produced by the activity of neurons within the brain (Melzack, 1990). This activity can also be triggered by input from different sensory domains. The neuromatrix concept proposes that although learning is an integral part of the development of body schema, there is still a genetic component to the formation of neural circuits that governs the structure and functionality of different body parts

Table 3

Summary of mechanisms of maladaptive plasticity.

| Onset of deafferentation | Mechanism | Description |
|-------------------------------|--|---|
| Congenital and early-onset | Disruption to body schema and neuromatrix | The organization of the topographic maps has a genetic aspect. Disruption of this organization may be caused congenitally. |
| | Mirror-neurons | Mirror neurons trying to imitate the movements of an intact body schema may not be integrated with the internal body schema of the person. |
| | Cross-modal plasticity | Extensive cross-modal recruitment can hinder domain-specific plasticity in the deprived cortex to aid the use the of prostheses. |
| Late onset | Thalamocortical dysrhythmia | Presence of wide-spread low-frequency activity in the cortex in the wake state accompanied by a halo of high frequencies. This results from increased synchronization of the thalamocortical loop due to de-inactivation of T-type Ca ²⁺ channels and decreased lateral inhibition due to reduction in GABA receptors. |
| | Map plasticity | Increased spontaneous activity may also trigger changes in topographic map organization. This could either follow axonal sprouting of neurons from the adjacent entities into the deafferented site (classical theory) or dendritic sprouting of deafferented neurons into the adjacent entities (neural Darwinism). Either way there is increased expression of deafferented area. |
| | Functional connectivity | Changes in functional connectivity between sensory and non-sensory areas have been reported in several phantoms. |
| | Failed bottom-up cancellation | Failure of the cortico-limbic cancellation system due to structural or functional changes to the ventromedial prefrontal cortex or the nucleus accumbens may lead to "unmasking" of the erroneous bottom-up input, which is then relayed to the cortex by the thalamocortical loop. |
| | Failed top-down modulation | Structural or functional changes to the subgenual ACC/ventromedial prefrontal cortex lead to an inability to make successful adjustments to the top-down belief-system based on the changing bottom-up information. This results in the creation of constant salience |
| | "Filling-in" missing information | Faulty integration of sensory signals or constant salience may be compensated by "filling-in" the missing information by pulling it out from the sensory memory. |

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste/Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx

(Melzack, 1990). The neuro-matrix is hypothesized to consist of thalamo-cortical and limbic loops whose inputs and outputs shape the characteristic structure and function of the neuro-matrix, also called the "neuro-signature" (Giummarra et al., 2007; Melzack, 1990). With the concept of the neuro-matrix, Melzack proposes that the general structure of the topographical patterns of each sensory domain may be laid out even before birth rather than built up neuron-by-neuron. Although learning and sensory experience may change the topographic organization of sensory maps, his theory proposes that the genetic aspect of the development of topographic maps may be responsible for the occurrence of congenital phantoms. In other words, his theory claims that congenital phantoms are reflections of an intact body schema that was formed even before birth. Some scientists support this concept of a pre-conceived neural signature of the body schema (Ramachandran et al., 1998), and some scientists refute the idea, saying that learning and sensory exposure is a prerequisite to the development of topographic sensory maps (Eggermont and Kral, 2016).

3.3. Failed integration of self-referential and external sensory input

In a comprehensive perspective article, Price argues that although the theory of a 'hard-wired' neuro-matrix solves the mystery of congenital phantoms, it creates redundancy in the creation of a body image, which is inefficient from an evolutionary perspective (Price, 2006). Thus, as an alternative theory to the generation of congenital phantoms, a proposition for the presence of "mirror-neurons" in the human brain was made (Price, 2006). The theory of mirror-neurons was first proposed in monkeys in order to explain the similarities in the firing pattern of neurons in the pre-motor cortex when monkeys performed a goal-directed task compared to seeing someone else do the same task (Rizzolatti et al., 1988). On the other hand, mirror-neurons in humans were observed not only while performing a motor task but also in the sub-threshold firing of neurons while observing a particular task (Fadiga et al., 2005). Furthermore, mirror-neurons were shown to fire in response to the sound or vision of a particular action (Kohler et al., 2002). Conversely, audiovisual mirror-neurons are shown to be instrumental in recognizing an action that is associated with a particular sound (Keysers et al., 2003). In addition, mirror-neurons have also been reported to be important in imitations, which play an important role in the cognitive development of infants (Iacoboni, 2009).

The theory of mirror-neurons postulates that visual input from the movement of intact limbs of people with intact bodies may trigger postural or somatic empathy, creating a discrepancy in the body image of the self that is brought to consciousness at an age when a person is more aware of his/her surroundings (Price, 2006). The mirror-neuron system is also hypothesized to be responsible for reinforcing an intact body image in various sensory representations that may lead to the perception of a phantom in congenital aplasia patients following habitual visual input from external sources (Brugger, 2006; Brugger et al., 2000; Funk et al., 2005).

3.4. Maladaptive cross-modal plasticity

Although the theory of the neuro-matrix and mirror neurons support the possibility of phantoms in congenital loss of sensation, some researchers argue that extensive plasticity of sensory maps within the critical period and the significant contribution of the environment in shaping sensory experience make the occurrence of phantoms within the critical period extremely improbable. In their review, Eggermont and Kral comprehensively describe how somatotopic sensory maps are developed based on somatic memories and how the tonotopic map in the auditory system is developed majorly based on both genetic factors and intrauterine auditory experience (Eggermont and Kral, 2016). They explain that in the presence of unilateral deafness, extensive cross-hemispheric plasticity takes over the somatotopic organization in the deaf side and that no somatic memories will be formed since the deaf side has never been exposed to auditory experience. Taking this into consideration, Eggermont and Kral argue that tinnitus in congenital deafness is highly improbable. Thus, successful compensation of the deprived sensory experience by cross-modal plasticity may result in successful adaptation of the brain to the reduced sensory input, making phantoms in congenital deprivation improbable.

As much as cross-modal plasticity helps to compensate for the missing sensory representation, it can also be a hindrance to individuals trying to use prostheses. There are reports of phantom sensations in congenitally deprived individuals following use of prostheses (Eggermont and Kral, 2016; Weinstein et al., 1964). This is hypothesized to be the result of dis-integration of contradicting bottom-up input provided by the prosthesis and the top-down information provided by successful rewiring of neurons from another sensory domain (Campbell and Sharma, 2016). Use of prostheses has also been reported to reinforce the altered body schema as a result of amputation, leading to reinforcement of phantom perceptions (Giummarra et al., 2007).

3.5. Thalamo-cortical dysrhythmia

Maladaptive bottom-up compensation in late-deprivation may be witnessed in aberrant thalamocortical rhythms. In healthy adults, the thalamocortical rhythm in wakefulness is maintained in alpha oscillations, wherein meaningful stimuli are relayed to the cortex and redundant information are suppressed (Klimesch, 2012). Thalamocortical synchrony at lower frequencies such as delta and theta are established only in sleep or minimally conscious states (Lee et al., 2005; Timofeev et al., 2012). However, in the presence of deafferentation, there is wide-spread lowfrequency activity at the cortical level delivered by aberrant thalamocortical synchrony in the wake state (Llinás et al., 1999). This is proposed to be brought about by de-inactivation of the Ttype calcium channels of the thalamic relay cells, leading to hyperpolarization of the cell membrane (Llinás et al., 2005; Llinás and Steriade, 2006). This results in the synchronization of the thalamocortical loop, leading to widespread low frequency theta oscillations at the level of the cortex and a decrease in alpha oscillations (Llinás et al., 2005). This in turn results in decreased lateral inhibition, producing an increase in cortical high frequency gamma oscillations around the edge of the low-frequency theta oscillations (Llinás et al., 1999). Thalamocortical dysrhythmia can also result from a reduction in Gamma Amino Butyric Acid (GABA) receptors in cortical interneurons, producing a similar edge effect and spontaneous hyperactivation in the sensory cortices (Llinás et al., 2005; Shore et al., 2016). Although the olfactory system is not relayed through the thalamus, it is proposed that the olfactory bulb serves as a similar gateway to the cortex. The granular cells have been proposed to take over the role of the inhibitory thalamic reticular cells, and the glomerular cells are proposed to take over the role of the thalamic relay cells, thus exercising homologous gating and relay control of the olfactory system (Kay and Sherman, 2007).

Increased activity in the sensory cortices has been shown in the case of all phantoms from single-cell recording, EEG, and fMRI data. This could result from aberrant thalamocortical synchrony, which can be viewed as one of the initial mechanisms in the compensation of cortical salience. Low-frequency theta oscillation is said to represent negative symptoms such as loss of vision, hearing, and somatomotor capabilities, whereas increases in

Please cite this article in press as: A. Mohan, S. Vanneste, Adaptive and maladaptive neural compensatory consequences of sensory deprivation—From a phantom percept perspective, Prog. Neurobiol. (2017), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2017.03.010

10

G Model PRONEU 1490 No. of Pages 17

ARTICLE IN PRESS

synchronized gamma activity are said to reflect positive symptoms such as phantom images, sounds, music, and limbs (Llinás et al., 2005; Llinás and Steriade, 2006). Although no direct evidence has been presented from the olfactory, gustatory, or vestibular systems, we can hypothesize a similar turn of events following disinhibition in their respective sensory cortices. The gamma frequency has also been related to conscious perception or keeping a stimulus "online" (Dehaene et al., 2006). In the case of phantom percepts, increased gamma activity also keeps the phantom "online", leading to continuous perception.

3.6. Maladaptive map plasticity

The thalamocortical dysrhythmia model is in direct relationship with changes in neuronal activity in the different sensory cortices. The decreased inhibition in the sensory cortices due to the reduction in Gamma amino butyric acid receptors (Berrios and Brook, 1984; Levy and Henkin, 2004; Llinás et al., 2005; Paulig and Mentrup, 2001) results in an increase in spontaneous activity, which may or may not trigger plasticity of topographic maps (Rajan, 1998). Changes in map organization due to decreased sensory input in the different sensory domains may sometimes be maladaptive and result in the generation of a phantom percept. Phantoms, especially in the auditory (Eggermont, 2006), visual, and somatosensory (Flor, 2008; Flor et al., 2006; Oouchida et al., 2016) domains, have been shown to accompany maladaptive expansion of topographic, visual field-size, and tonotopic map organization as a compensatory mechanism to the memory of the deafferented region.

In the auditory domain, it has been shown that reversal of map expansion is correlated with improvement in phantom perception (Engineer et al., 2011). Although changes in map plasticity seem to be a neural correlate of phantom percepts, there is still an ongoing debate as to whether map plasticity always follows deafferentation. There is evidence from the auditory and somatosensory literature that this is not always true (Langers et al., 2012; Makin et al., 2013), and indeed a significant loss of receptors could be induced without causing changes in cortical maps (Rajan, 1998). Secondly, even if map plasticity does follow deafferentation, does it always lead to the creation of a phantom? Although map plasticity is well understood in the animal literature, there is substantial criticism in human literature due to the lack of imaging techniques to look at single cell recordings or microscopic maps. We still lack clarity as to whether increased cortical excitation as reported by EEG and fMRI relates directly to increases in spontaneous activity at the neuronal level or reflects change in overall synchronized activity of neuronal cell populations, thus bringing into question the incidence of map plasticity in humans at the macroscopic level.

3.7. Maladaptive changes in functional connectivity

Changes in functional connectivity may not only be adaptive, but also maladaptive. Maladaptive changes in functional connectivity have been the focus of recent literature in phantom percepts of different domains. Extensive research in the auditory (Husain and Schmidt, 2014; Shore et al., 2016) and somatosensory (Makin et al., 2015) domains reveals changes in functional connectivity between sensory, limbic, and frontal regions depending on the amount of deafferentation (Vanneste and De Ridder, 2016), chronicity (Zhang et al., 2015), and distress (Vanneste and De Ridder, 2015) associated with the phantom percept. Auditory phantom percepts are proposed to be an integration of multiple subnetworks, in which each symptom is hypothesized to be encoded by a specific subnetwork (De Ridder et al., 2014c). Thus, trying to modify the percept may involve disintegration of multiple separable subnetworks (Mohan et al., 2016). This hypothesis may be extended to phantoms of other domains, encouraging further research in terms of analyzing changes in functional and causal connectivity between sensory and extra-sensory regions.

Like mechanisms of adaptive changes in functional connectivity, Fornito and colleagues also propose different ways of manifestation of maladaptive changes in functional connectivity. They propose that maladaptive changes in functional connectivity may feature three mechanisms: (a) Diachisis. (b) transneuronal degeneration, and (c) dedifferentiation (Fornito et al., 2015). Diachisis is defined as the maladaptive changes affecting specific areas of a particular network which are remote to the region of deafferentation. This has been shown by changes in activity and functional connectivity of regions such as the limbic and frontal regions in phantoms of different domains. Transneuronal degeneration has been explained as a longitudinal version of diachisis. Transneuronal degeneration can be identified with changes in functional connectivity with increased chronicity of the syndrome. Lastly, dedifferentiation is proposed to be an imbalance between excitation and inhibition that causes the break-down of segregated neural activity. This has been shown in both the thalamocortical dysrhythmia model and changes in the balance between integration and segregation in phantom percepts.

3.8. Failed cancellation and top-down prediction mechanisms

As explained before, the cancellation system plays a very important role in tuning out unwanted signals created by deafferentation at the level of the thalamus, thus providing adaptive compensation of bottom-up cues (Rauschecker et al., 2010b). However, malfunctioning of the cancellation system would be responsible for the inefficient filtering of erroneous signals and maladaptive sampling of bottom-up cues leading to erroneous signals sent to the cortex. This may be followed by increased firing in the nucleus accumbens, inducing excitotoxicity in the serotonergic cells of the nucleus accumbens (Rauschecker et al., 2010b). In addition, changes in the levels of serotonin in individuals genetically predisposed to decreased levels of neurotransmitters may experience a decline in functionality of the cancellation system even earlier than others who don't possess the same genetic vulnerability (Rauschecker et al., 2010b). The up-regulation of serotonergic cells and the increase in serotonergic activity has been evidenced in the generation of phantom percepts (Caperton and Thompson, 2011). The resulting erroneous signal would result in a discrepancy between the top-down beliefs and the bottom-up cues thus producing a prediction error at different levels of the hierarchy.

Although erroneous signals may reach cortical consciousness due to a malfunctioning cancellation system, successful updating of hierarchical prediction errors could still prevent the generation of a phantom. However, structural and functional changes to the regions involved in the encoding and updating of the prediction error could still lead to the generation of phantom percepts. As mentioned earlier, the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex, a very important hub in the salience network, encodes the hierarchical prediction error. Several studies report changes in activity and connectivity in the salience network and specifically in the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex in the presence of phantom percepts (Vanneste and De Ridder, 2015; Vanneste et al., 2010). In addition to updating prediction errors, top-down influence is also evidenced by the association of a positive or negative affect to the salience attached to sensory uncertainty. As discussed previously, the fronto-striatal gating system inhibits the negative affect that is attached to salience caused as a result of deafferentation (Rauschecker et al., 2015). Thus, a decrease in grey matter volume and an increase in activity in the subcallosal anterior cingulate cortex, ventromedial prefrontal cortex, and the

12

ARTICLE IN PRESS

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste/Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx

nucleus accumbens (Leaver et al., 2011) may not only lead to the generation of a phantom due to decreased interaction with the thalamocortical loop but may also be responsible for assigning a negative affect to the phantom percept.

3.9. Compensation of cortical salience: the "filling-in" mechanism

The different mechanisms explained in the previous subsections result in maladaptive plasticity, leading to the generation of constant cortical salience which the brain tries to minimize by creating a phantom to compensate for the missing information (De Ridder et al., 2014b). This theory is similar to the one discussed in the different sensory domains as a "filling-in" mechanism. In the vestibular system, although there is some evidence supporting the occurrence of vestibular phantoms following damage to the vestibular periphery, salience could also result from conflicting input from different sensory systems. Thus, phantom perceptions could be regarded as the compensatory solution to the failure of the adaptation of the Bayesian brain to decreased sensory input (De Ridder et al., 2014a).

Cortical salience may also be compensated for by recalling stimuli from the sensory memory. In many sensory domains, phantoms reflect on past experiences. People with Charles Bonnet Syndrome see well-formed images of faces, landscapes, animals, etc. (Pang, 2015). The pitch of tinnitus may be identified by the edge frequencies of patients' hearing loss (Sereda et al., 2015). People with musical hallucinosis usually recognize the tunes as parts of songs they have heard before (Vitorovic and Biller, 2014). Patients with phantom limb pain usually report paralysis of the phantom in the position the actual extremity was in prior to amputation (Ramachandran et al., 1998). People with smell and taste phantoms may recognize the scents and flavors from past experiences (Henkin et al., 2000) and people with vestibular phantoms, especially Mal de debarguement, continue to experience the rocking sensation from the particular incident preceding the onset of symptoms (Moeller and Lempert, 2007). Although this is explained as a part of the "filling-in mechanism" in the visual, olfactory, gustatory, and vestibular systems, a more comprehensive explanation is provided in the auditory and somatosensory systems (De Ridder et al., 2011). In patients with substantial amounts of deafferentation, the brain recalls the missing information from memory by involving structures such as the hippocampus and the parahippocampus (Vanneste and De Ridder, 2016). The parahippocampus acts as a sensory gate-keeper to the hippocampus, disregarding redundant stimuli (Tulving and Markowitsch, 1997). With an increase in sensory deafferentation, compensation by increased hyperactivity in the primary sensory areas becomes less effective and hence the brain recruits the network responsible for storing auditory memory in order to compensate for the hearing loss (Vanneste and De Ridder, 2016). Although the published work talks specifically about the auditory domain, this opens avenues for further research in the other



Fig. 2. The universal construct for adaptive and maladaptive compensation for sensory deprivation. The dendrogram serves as a visual summary to the article outlining the different adaptive and maladaptive compensatory mechanisms employed by the brain in congenital, early and late-onset sensory deprivation. It also postulates that the adaptive and maladaptive compensatory mechanisms fall under a universal construct of Bayesian prediction-error coding where phantoms are a maladaptive manifestation of unsuccessful adaptation.

sensory domains. In addition, well-formed hallucinations involve severe damage to the corresponding association cortices, also responsible for making sensory memory. This supports the hypothesis that the occurrence of phantoms may stem from recalled memories as a possible compensatory mechanism for severe deafferentation.

Fig. 2 summarizes the article by categorizing the adaptive and maladaptive mechanisms employed by the brain in order to compensate for sensory deafferentation. The maladaptive mechanisms ultimately lead to the creation of a prediction error between bottom-up stimuli and top-down prediction, leading to the generation of cortical salience, which is maladaptively compensated by a phantom percept.

4. Clinical applications and future directions

Maladaptive changes in the brain have been tackled for a long time by means of medications (Palumbo et al., 2015), prostheses (Eggermont and Kral, 2016; Weinstein and Sersen, 1961; Weinstein et al., 1964), mirror therapy (Deconinck et al., 2015), etc. Today however, the therapeutic field is shifting towards non-invasive and invasive neuromodulation targeting different nerves and brain areas (Langguth et al., 2012). Thus, the knowledge of the different manners of adaptive and maladaptive compensation of the brain to sensory deafferentation opens avenues to better understand the outcomes of non-invasive techniques such as transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS) etc., and invasive stimulation techniques such as occipital nerve stimulation, vagus nerve stimulation, and deep brain stimulation. Neuromodulation is a relatively new field that is gaining traction with its vast application and attraction to temporarily or permanently reverse maladaptive plasticity. Several studies until now have shown varving results of efficacy in improvement in patient symptoms over one and several sessions of neuromodulation (Langguth et al., 2012). However, not all patients report a uniform change in their percept. Thus, the current article better informs us of the various ways a system may potentially dysfunction, exposing us to a range of targets for neuromodulation. Further, knowing which brain regions fall under the different mechanisms reviewed in this article also gives us a better understanding of the underlying mechanisms that are being altered.

5. Conclusion: the universal construct of adaptive and maladaptive neural compensation of sensory deafferentation

Although different mechanisms for adaptive and maladaptive compensation have been discussed in the current review article, these compensatory mechanisms may all be explained by the



Fig. 3. Mechanism of action of complementary compensation systems. The figure outlines the mechanism of action of the bottom-up and top-down compensatory mechanisms in the presence of sensory deafferentation. The bottom-up system is shown in red, the top-down system is shown in green and failure of a system is shown in black. (a)-(c) show different variations of successful and unsuccessful bottom-up and top-down compensation of sensory deafferentation.

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste/Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx

universal construct of Bayesian hierarchical prediction coding. As introduced earlier in this article, it is hypothesized that the brain maintains an internal representation of the external environment. The internal and the external environment are constantly compared and any salient changes in the environment are updated in a series of hierarchical Bayesian predictions. In the presence of sensory deafferentation, irrespective of congenital, early, or lateonset, the bottom-up cues are reduced, owing to the sensory deprivation the brain is exposed to. Thus, the brain employs one or more of the bottom-up compensatory techniques in order to actively sample the new environment. These techniques include recruiting cross-modal inputs, increasing activity in sensory areas through homeostatic plasticity, expanding sensory maps, recruiting bilateral neural resources, increasing activity in other sensory cortices, or modifying connections between different sensory and non-sensory areas. If there is still any residual erroneous signal remaining, the brain employs a sub-cortical limbic cancellation system to prevent the signal from reaching cortical consciousness (Fig. 3a). In the event of a failure of bottom-up compensation, a fully-functional top-down error monitoring system may be able to ensure successful adaption to sensory deprivation. Efficiently updating the model based on the new input provided by these different bottom-up compensatory mechanisms minimizes sensory uncertainty (Fig. 3b).

However, sensory deafferentation may also lead to maladaptive compensation which may result from a combination of unsuccessful sampling of the environment, disrupted body schema, unsuccessful integration of stimuli from different sensory domains, maladaptive map and cross-modal plasticity, undesired functional connectivity, failed bottom-up cancellation, or failed top-down prediction - which represent different forms of maladaptive bottom-up and top-down compensation techniques (Fig. 3c). As a result, maladaptive plasticity results in the prevalence of continuous sensory uncertainty leading to the generation of top-down goal-directed cortical salience. It is hypothesized that this top-down, goal-related salience is compensated by the generation of a phantom percept which "fills-in" the missing sensory information. Consequently, the way phantom percepts are generated may be proposed as the maladaptive compensatory consequence and manifestation of constant salience in the brain stemming from unsuccessful adaptation to sensory deprivation.

Acknowledgement

The authors would like to thank Christian Davidson and Ian Robertson for their valuable comments.

References

- Alary, F., Goldstein, R., Duquette, M., Chapman, C.E., Voss, P., Lepore, F., 2008. Tactile acuity in the blind: a psychophysical study using a two-dimensional angle discrimination task. Exp. Brain Res. 187, 587-594.
- Allman, B.L., Keniston, L.P., Meredith, M.A., 2009. Adult deafness induces somatosensory conversion of ferret auditory cortex, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106. 5925-5930
- Alsalman, O., Ost, J., Vanspauwen, R., Blaivie, C., De Ridder, D., Vanneste, S., 2016. The neural correlates of chronic symptoms of vertigo proneness in humans. PLoS One 11, e0152309.
- Alstott, J., Breakspear, M., Hagmann, P., Cammoun, L., Sporns, O., 2009. Modeling the impact of lesions in the human brain. PLoS Comput. Biol. 5, e1000408.
- Araneda, R., Renier, L.A., Rombaux, P., Cuevas, I., De Volder, A.G., 2016a. Cortical plasticity and olfactory function in early blindness. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 10, 75.
- Araneda, R., Renier, L.A., Rombaux, P., Cuevas, I., De Volder, A.G., 2016b. Cortical plasticity and olfactory function in early blindness. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 10. Arnal, L.H., Giraud, A.L., 2012. Cortical oscillations and sensory predictions. Trends
- Cogn. Sci. 16, 390-398. Arnold, P., Murray, C., 1998. Memory for faces and objects by deaf and hearing
- signers and hearing nonsigners. J. Psycholinguist. Res. 27, 481-497.

- Attias, J., Urbach, D., Gold, S., Shemesh, Z., 1993. Auditory event related potentials in chronic tinnitus patients with noise induced hearing loss. Hear. Res. 71, 106-113.
- Axelsson, A., Sandh, A., 1985. Tinnitus in noise-induced hearing loss. Br. J. Audiol. 19, 271-276 Büchel, C., Price, C., Frackowiak, R., Friston, K., 1998. Different activation patterns in
- the visual cortex of late and congenitally blind subjects. Brain 121, 409-419. Baron, R., 2006. Mechanisms of disease: neuropathic pain-a clinical perspective.
- Nat. Clin. Pract. Neurol. 2, 95-106. Bartoshuk, L.M., Snyder, D.J., Grushka, M., Berger, A.M., Duffy, V.B., Kveton, J.F., 2005.
- Taste damage: previously unsuspected consequences. Chem. Senses 30, i218i219
- Barulli, D., Stern, Y., 2013. Efficiency, capacity, compensation, maintenance, plasticity: emerging concepts in cognitive reserve. Trends Cogn. Sci. 17, 502-509.
- Baurier, V.O., Tuca, J.O., 1996. Auditory hallucinosis in brainstem lesions and musical hallucination in deafness: analogies and differences. Eur. J. Neurol. 3, 203-211.
- Bavelier, D., Neville, H.J., 2002a. Cross-modal plasticity: where and how? Nat. Rev. Neurosci, 3, 443-452.
- Bavelier, D., Neville, H.J., 2002b. Cross-modal plasticity: where and how? Nat. Rev. Neurosci, 3, 443-452.
- Bavelier, D., Tomann, A., Hutton, C., Mitchell, T., Corina, D., Liu, G., Neville, H., 2000. Visual attention to the periphery is enhanced in congenitally deaf individuals. J. Neurosci, 20, 1-6.
- Berlingeri, M., Danelli, L., Bottini, G., Sberna, M., Paulesu, E., 2013. Reassessing the HAROLD model: is the hemispheric asymmetry reduction in older adults a special case of compensatory-related utilisation of neural circuits? Exp. Brain Res. 224, 393-410.
- Berrios, G.E., Brook, P., 1984. Visual hallucinations and sensory delusions in the elderly. Br. J. Psychiatry 144, 662-664.
- Berrios, G.E., 1990. Musical hallucinations: a historical and clinical study. Br. J. Psychiatry 156, 188-194.
- Beume, L.-A., Klingler, A., Reinhard, M., Niesen, W.D., 2015. Olfactory hallucinations as primary symptom for ischemia in the right posterior insula. J. Neurol. Sci. 354, 138-139.
- Blanke, O., Mohr, C., 2005. Out-of-body experience, heautoscopy, and autoscopic hallucination of neurological origin: implications for neurocognitive mechanisms of corporeal awareness and self-consciousness. Brain Res. Rev. 50, 184-199.
- Blanke, O., Landis, T., Spinelli, L., Seeck, M., 2004. Out-of-body experience and autoscopy of neurological origin. Brain 127, 243-258.
- Brandt, T., Dieterich, M., 1999. The vestibular cortex: its locations, functions, and disorders. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 871, 293-312.
- Brandt, T., 1997. Letter to the editor: Cortical matching of visual and vestibular 3D coordinate maps.
- Bromage, P.R., Melzack, R., 1974. Phantom limbs and the body schema. Can. Anaesthetists Soc. J. 21, 267-274.
- Brugger, P., Kollias, S.S., Müri, R.M., Crelier, G., Hepp-Reymond, M.-C., Regard, M., 2000. Beyond re-membering: phantom sensations of congenitally absent limbs. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 97, 6167-6172.
- Brugger, P., 2006. From phantom limb to phantom body: Varieties of extracorporeal awareness.
- Burton, H., 2003. Visual cortex activity in early and late blind people. J. Neurosci. 23, 4005-4011.
- Cabeza, R., Anderson, N.D., Locantore, J.K., McIntosh, A.R., 2002. Aging gracefully: compensatory brain activity in high-performing older adults. Neuroimage 17, 1394-1402.
- Cabeza, R., 2002. Hemispheric asymmetry reduction in older adults: the HAROLD model. Psychol. Aging 17, 85.
- Cai, S., Ma, W.-L.D., Young, E.D., 2009. Encoding intensity in ventral cochlear nucleus following acoustic trauma: implications for loudness recruitment. J. Assoc. Res. Otolaryngol. 10, 5-22.
- Callahan, C.D., Hinkebein, J.H., 2002. Assessment of anosmia after traumatic brain injury: performance characteristics of the University of Pennsylvania Smell Identification Test. J. Head Trauma Rehabil. 17, 251–256.
- Campbell, J., Sharma, A., 2016. Visual cross-modal re-organization in children with
- cochlear implants. PLoS One 11, e0147793. Caperton, K.K., Thompson, A.M., 2011. Activation of serotonergic neurons during salicylate-induced tinnitus. Otol. Neurotol. 32, 301-307.
- Čeko, M., Seminowicz, D.A., Bushnell, M.C., Olausson, H.W., 2013. Anatomical and
- functional enhancements of the insula after loss of large primary somatosensory fibers. Cereb. Cortex 23, 2017-2024.
- Chan, B.L., Witt, R., Charrow, A.P., Magee, A., Howard, R., Pasquina, P.F., Heilman, K. M., Tsao, J.W., 2007. Mirror therapy for phantom limb pain. New Engl. J. Med. 357, 2206-2207.
- Chen, X., Gabitto, M., Peng, Y., Ryba, N.J., Zuker, C.S., 2011. A gustotopic map of taste qualities in the mammalian brain. Science 333, 1262-1266.
- Cogan, D.G., 1973. Visual hallucinations as release phenomena. Albrecht von Graefes Archiv für klinische und experimentelle Ophthalmologie 188, 139-150.
- Cohen, L.G., Celnik, P., Pascual-Leone, A., Corwell, B., Faiz, L., Dambrosia, J., Honda, M., Sadato, N., Gerloff, C., Catalá, M.D., 1997. Functional relevance of cross-modal plasticity in blind humans. Nature 389, 180-183.

Cooper, J.C., Knutson, B., 2008. Valence and salience contribute to nucleus accumbens activation. Neuroimage 39, 538-547.

Please cite this article in press as: A. Mohan, S. Vanneste, Adaptive and maladaptive neural compensatory consequences of sensory deprivation-From a phantom percept perspective, Prog. Neurobiol. (2017), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2017.03.010

14

Cohen, L.G., Weeks, R.A., Sadato, N., Celnik, P., Ishii, K., Hallett, M., 1999. Period of susceptibility for cross-modal plasticity in the blind. Ann. Neurol. 45, 451-460.

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste / Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx

- Cowart, B.J., Young, I., Feldman, R.S., Lowry, L.D., 1997. Clinical disorders of smell and taste. Occup. Med.-State Art Rev. 12, 465-484.
- David, S., Aguayo, A.J., 1981. Axonal elongation into peripheral nervous system bridges after central nervous system injury in adult rats. Science 214, 931-933.
- De Ridder, D., Van de Heyning, P., 2007. The Darwinian plasticity hypothesis for tinnitus and pain. In: Langguth, G.H.T.K.A.C.B., Møller, A.R. (Eds.), Progress in Brain Research. Elsevier, pp. 55-60.
- De Ridder, D., Van Laere, K., Dupont, P., Menovsky, T., Van de Heyning, P., 2005. Visualizing out-of-body experience in the brain. N. Engl. J. Med. 25, 550-557.
- De Ridder, D., Elgoyhen, A.B., Romo, R., Langguth, B., 2011. Phantom percepts: tinnitus and pain as persisting aversive memory networks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 108, 8075-8080.
- De Ridder, D., Vanneste, S., Freeman, W., 2014a. The Bayesian brain: phantom
- percepts resolve sensory uncertainty. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 44, 4-15. De Ridder, D., Vanneste, S., Freeman, W., 2014b. The Bayesian brain: phantom percepts resolve sensory uncertainty. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 44, 4-15.
- De Ridder, D., Vanneste, S., Weisz, N., Londero, A., Schlee, W., Elgoyhen, A.B. Langguth, B., 2014c. An integrative model of auditory phantom perception: tinnitus as a unified percept of interacting separable subnetworks. Neurosci. Biobehav, Rev. 44, 16-32.
- De Weerd, P., 2006. Perceptual filling-in: more than the eye can see. Prog. Brain Res. 154, 227-245.
- DeYoe, E.A., Carman, G.J., Bandettini, P., Glickman, S., Wieser, J., Cox, R., Miller, D., Neitz, J., 1996. Mapping striate and extrastriate visual areas in human cerebral cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 93, 2382-2386.
- Deconinck, F.J., Smorenburg, A.R., Benham, A., Ledebt, A., Feltham, M.G., Savelsbergh, G.J., 2015. Reflections on mirror therapy: a systematic review of the effect of mirror visual feedback on the brain. Neurorehabil. Neural Repair 29, 349-361.
- Dehaene, S., Changeux, J.-P., Naccache, L., Sackur, J., Sergent, C., 2006. Conscious, preconscious, and subliminal processing: a testable taxonomy. Trends Cogn. Sci. 10. 204–211.
- DiFabio, R., Casali, C., Giugni, E., Pierelli, F., 2009. Olfactory hallucinations as a manifestation of hidden rhinosinusitis. J. Clin. Neurosci. 16, 1353-1355.
- Dixon, R.A., Bäckman, L., 1999. Principles of compensation in cognitive neurorehabilitation. Cognitive Neurorehabil. 59-72.
- Du, Y., Buchsbaum, B.R., Grady, C.L., Alain, C., 2014. Noise differentially impacts phoneme representations in the auditory and speech motor systems. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 7126-7131.
- Dye, M.W., Hauser, P.C., Bavelier, D., 2009. Is visual selective attention in deaf individuals enhanced or deficient? The case of the useful field of view. PLoS One 4. e5640.
- Edelman, G.M., 1993. Neural Darwinism: selection and reentrant signaling in higher brain function. Neuron 10, 115-125.
- Eggermont, J.J., Kral, A., 2016. Somatic memory and gain increase as preconditions for tinnitus: insights from congenital deafness. Hear. Res. 333, 37-48.
- Eggermont, J.J., 2005. Tinnitus: neurobiological substrates. Drug Discov. Today 10, 1283-1290.
- Eggermont, J.J., 2006. Cortical tonotopic map reorganization and its implications for treatment of tinnitus. Acta Otolaryngol. (Stockh.) 126, 9–12. Elbert, T., Sterr, A., Rockstroh, B., Pantev, C., Müller, M.M., Taub, E., 2002. Expansion of
- the tonotopic area in the auditory cortex of the blind. J. Neurosci. 22, 9941–9944.
- Engineer, N.D., Riley, J.R., Seale, J.D., Vrana, W.A., Shetake, J.A., Sudanagunta, S.P., Borland, M.S., Kilgard, M.P., 2011. Reversing pathological neural activity using targeted plasticity. Nature 470, 101–104.
- Evers, S., Ellger, T., 2004. The clinical spectrum of musical hallucinations. J. Neurol. Sci. 227. 55-65.

Evers, S., 2006. Musical hallucinations. Curr. Psychiatry Rep. 8, 205–210. Fadiga, L., Craighero, L., Olivier, E., 2005. Human motor cortex excitability during the

- perception of others' action. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 15, 213–218. Finney, E.M., Fine, I., Dobkins, K.R., 2001. Visual stimuli activate auditory cortex in the deaf. Nat. Neurosci. 4, 1171–1173.
- Fjell, A.M., Westlye, L.T., Amlien, I., Espeseth, T., Reinvang, I., Raz, N., Agartz, I., Salat, D.H., Greve, D.N., Fischl, B., Dale, A.M., Walhovd, K.B., 2009. High consistency of regional cortical thinning in aging across multiple samples. Cereb. Cortex
- Fjell, A.M., Westlye, L.T., Grydeland, H., Amlien, I., Espeseth, T., Reinvang, I., Raz, N., Dale, A.M., Walhovd, K.B., 2012. Accelerating cortical thinning: unique to dementia or universal in aging? Cereb. Cortex .
- Flor, H., Nikolajsen, L., Jensen, T.S., 2006. Phantom limb pain: a case of maladaptive CNS plasticity? Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7, 873-881.
- Flor, H., 2002. Phantom-limb pain: characteristics, causes, and treatment. Lancet Neurol. 1, 182-189.
- Flor, H., 2008. Maladaptive plasticity, memory for pain and phantom limb pain: review and suggestions for new therapies. Expert Rev. Neurother. 8, 809.
- Fornito, A., Zalesky, A., Breakspear, M., 2015. The connectomics of brain disorders. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 16, 159-172.
- Friston, K., Kilner, J., Harrison, L., 2006. A free energy principle for the brain. J. Physiol.-Paris 100, 70-87.
- Friston, K., 2005. A theory of cortical responses. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B : Biol. Sci. 360, 815-836.
- Friston, K., 2009. The free-energy principle: a rough guide to the brain? Trends Cogn. Sci. 13, 293-301.
- Friston, K., 2012. The history of the future of the Bayesian brain. Neuroimage 62-248, 1230-1233.

- Funk, M., Shiffrar, M., Brugger, P., 2005. Hand movement observation by individuals born without hands: phantom limb experience constrains visual limb perception. Exp. Brain Res. 164, 341-346.
- Giummarra, M.J., Gibson, S.J., Georgiou-Karistianis, N., Bradshaw, J.L., 2007. Central mechanisms in phantom limb perception: the past, present and future. Brain Res. Rev. 54, 219-232.
- Gordon, A., 1997. Musical hallucinosis with brainstem lesions. Can. J. Neurol. Sci./ Journal Canadien des Sciences Neurologiques 24, 360-361.
- Gori, M., Sandini, G., Martinoli, C., Burr, D.C., 2014. Impairment of auditory spatial localization in congenitally blind human subjects. Brain 137, 288-293.
- Gougoux, F., Lepore, F., Lassonde, M., Voss, P., Zatorre, R.J., Belin, P., 2004. Neuropsychology: pitch discrimination in the early blind. Nature 430, 309.
- Graybiel, A., Kellogg, R., 1967. Inversion illusion in parabolic flight: its probable dependence on otolith function. Aerosp. Med. 38, 1099.
- Griffin, D.R., 1944. Echolocation by blind men, bats and radar. Science 100, 589-590. Griffiths, T.D., 2000. Musical hallucinosis in acquired deafness. Brain 123, 2065-2076.
- Grossberg, S., 2003. Filling-In the Forms: Surface and Boundary Interactions. Filling-
- in: From perceptual completion to cortical reorganization. , pp. 13. Grouios, G., 2002. Phantom smelling. Percept. Mot. Skills 94, 841-850.
- Hammeke, T.A., McQuillen, M.P., Cohen, B.A., 1983. Musical hallucinations associated with acquired deafness. Journal of Neurology. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 46, 570-572.
- Hayden, B.Y., Heilbronner, S.R., Pearson, J.M., Platt, M.L., 2011. Surprise signals in anterior cingulate cortex: neuronal encoding of unsigned reward prediction errors driving adjustment in behavior. J. Neurosci. 31, 4178-4187.
- Henkin, R.I., Levy, L.M., Lin, C.S., 2000. Taste and smell phantoms revealed by brain functional MRI (fMRI). J. Comput. Assist. Tomogr. 24, 106-123.
- Hensch, T.K., 2005. Critical period plasticity in local cortical circuits. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6, 877-888.
- Homans, N.C., Metselaar, R.M., Dingemanse, J.G., van der Schroeff, M.P., Brocaar, M.P., Wieringa, M.H., Baatenburg de Jong, R.J., Hofman, A., Goedegebure, A., 2016. Prevalence of age-related hearing loss, including sex differences, in older adults in a large cohort study. Laryngoscope .
- Hosty, G., 1994. Musical hallucinosis: auditory charles bonnet syndrome? Ir. J. Psychol. Med. 11, 29.
- Hummel, T., Landis, B.N., Hüttenbrink, K.-B., 2011. Smell and taste disorders. GMS Curr. Top. Otorhinolaryngol. Head Neck Surg. 10, Doc04.
- Hunter, C.R., 2016. Is the time course of lexical activation and competition in spoken word recognition affected by adult aging? An event-related potential (ERP) study. Neuropsychologia 9J, 451–464. Husain, F.T., Schmidt, S.A., 2014. Using resting state functional connectivity to
- unravel networks of tinnitus. Hear. Res. 307, 153-162.
- Iacoboni, M., 2009. Imitation, empathy, and mirror neurons. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 60, 653-670.
- Ide, J.S., Shenoy, P., Angela, J.Y., Chiang-shan, R.L., 2013. Bayesian prediction and evaluation in the anterior cingulate cortex. J. Neurosci. 33, 2039-2047.
- Inzelberg, R., Vishnievskaya, S., Korczyn, A.D., 1993. Transient musical hallucinosis. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 56, 833.
- Isolan, G.R., Bianchin, M.M., Bragatti, J.A., Torres, C., Schwartsmann, G., 2010. Musical hallucinations following insular glioma resection: case report. Neurosurg, Focus 28. E9.
- Jansen, E.J.M., Helleman, H.W., Dreschler, W.A., de Laat, J.A.P.M., 2009. Noise induced hearing loss and other hearing complaints among musicians of symphony orchestras. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health 82, 153-164.
- Jastreboff, P.J., 1990. Phantom auditory perception (tinnitus): mechanisms of generation and perception. Neurosci. Res. 8, 221–254.
- Kaas, J.H., Merzenich, M.M., Killackey, H.P., 1983. The reorganization of somatosensory cortex following peripheral nerve damage in adult and developing mammals. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 6, 325–356. Kaiser, M., Martin, R., Andras, P., Young, M.P., 2007. Simulation of robustness against
- lesions of cortical networks. Eur. J. Neurosci. 25, 3185-3192.
- Kay, L.M., Sherman, S.M., 2007. An argument for an olfactory thalamus. Trends Neurosci, 30, 47-53.
- Keshavan, M.S., David, A.S., Steingard, S., Lishman, W.A., 1992. Musical hallucinations: a review and synthesis. Cogn. Behav. Neurol. 5, 211-223.
- Kester, E.M., 2009. Charles Bonnet syndrome: case presentation and literature review. Optometry-J. Am. Optom. Assoc. 80, 360-366.
- Keysers, C., Kohler, E., Umiltà, M.A., Nanetti, L., Fogassi, L., Gallese, V., 2003. Audiovisual mirror neurons and action recognition. Exp. Brain Res. 153, 628-636
- Kim, H.R., Lee, S.K., Park, Y.S., 2006. A case of taste distortion and phantogeusia after tonsillectomy. Korean J. Otolaryngol.-Head Neck Surg. 49, 1035-1038.
- Klimesch, W., 2012. Alpha-band oscillations, attention, and controlled access to stored information. Trends Cogn. Sci. 16, 606-617.
- Knecht, S., Henningsen, H., Elbert, T., Flor, H., Höhling, C., Pantev, C., Taub, E., 1996. Reorganizational and perceptional changes after amputation. Brain 119, 1213-1219
- Kohler, E., Keysers, C., Umiltà, M.A., Fogassi, L., Gallese, V., Rizzolatti, G., 2002. Hearing sounds, understanding actions: action representation in mirror neurons. Science 297, 846.
- Kollndorfer, K., Jakab, A., Mueller, C.A., Trattnig, S., Schöpf, V., 2015. Effects of chronic peripheral olfactory loss on functional brain networks. Neuroscience 310, 589-599
- Kornilova, L., 1997. Orientation illusions in spaceflight. J. Vestib. Res. 7, 429-440.

16

CLE IN

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste/Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx

- Kotak, V.C., Fujisawa, S., Lee, F.A., Karthikeyan, O., Aoki, C., Sanes, D.H., 2005. Hearing loss raises excitability in the auditory cortex. J. Neurosci. 25, 3908-3918. Kral, A., 2013. Auditory critical periods: a review from system's perspective.
- Neuroscience 247, 117-133. Kujala, T., Alho, K., Kekoni, J., Hämäläinen, H., Reinikainen, K., Salonen, O., Standertskjöld-Nordenstam, C.-G., Näätänen, R., 1995. Auditory and somatosensory event-related brain potentials in early blind humans. Exp. Brain Res. 104, 519-526.
- Kujala, T., Alho, K., Huotilainen, M., Ilmoniemi, R., Lehtokoski, A., Leinonen, A., Rinne, T., Salonen, O., Sinkkonen, J., STANDERTSKJÖULD-NORDENSTAM, C.G., 1997. Electrophysiological evidence for cross-modal plasticity in humans with earlyand late-onset blindness. Psychophysiology 34, 213-216.
- Kupers, R., Ptito, M., 2014. Compensatory plasticity and cross-modal reorganization following early visual deprivation. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 41, 36-52.
- Langers, D.R.M., de Kleine, E., van Dijk, P., 2012. Tinnitus does not require macroscopic tonotopic map reorganization. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 6, 2.
- Langguth, B., Schecklmann, M., Lehner, A., Landgrebe, M., Poeppl, T., Kreuzer, P., Schlee, W., Weisz, N., Vanneste, S., De Ridder, D., 2012. Neuroimaging and neuromodulation: complementary approaches for identifying the neuronal correlates of tinnitus. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 6.
- Larson, M.J., Clayson, P.E., Keith, C.M., Hunt, I.J., Hedges, D.W., Nielsen, B.L., Call, V.R. A., 2016. Cognitive control adjustments in healthy older and younger adults: conflict adaptation, the error-related negativity (ERN), and evidence of generalized decline with age. Biol. Psychol. 115, 50-63.
- Lazzouni, L., Lepore, F., 2014. Compensatory plasticity: time matters. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 8, 340.
- Leaver, A.M., Renier, L., Chevillet, M.A., Morgan, S., Kim, H.J., Rauschecker, J.P., 2011. Dysregulation of limbic and auditory networks in tinnitus. Neuron 69, 33-43.
- Lee, H.-K., Whitt, J.L., 2015. Cross-modal synaptic plasticity in adult primary sensory cortices. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 35, 119-126.
- Lee, M.G., Hassani, O.K., Alonso, A., Jones, B.E., 2005. Cholinergic basal forebrain neurons burst with theta during waking and paradoxical sleep. J. Neurosci. 25, 4365-4369
- Lenz, M., Tegenthoff, M., Kohlhaas, K., Stude, P., Höffken, O., Tossi, M.A.G., Kalisch, T., Dinse, H.R., 2012. Increased excitability of somatosensory cortex in aged humans is associated with impaired tactile acuity. J. Neurosci. 32, 1811-1816.
- Leong, S.C., Karkos, P.D., Papouliakos, S.M., Apostolidou, M.T., 2007. Unusual complications of tonsillectomy: a systematic review. Am. J. Otolaryngol. 28, 419-422.
- Leopold, D.A., Loehrl, T.A., Schwob, J.E., 2002. Long-term follow-up of surgically treated phantosmia. Arch. Otolaryngol.-Head Neck Surg. 128, 642-647.
- Leopold, D., 2002. Distortion of olfactory perception: diagnosis and treatment. Chem. Senses 27, 611–615.
- Levänen, S., Jousmäki, V., Hari, R., 1998. Vibration-induced auditory-cortex activation in a congenitally deaf adult. Curr. Biol. 8, 869-872.
- Levy, L.M., Henkin, R.I., 2003. Why should neuroradiologists study patients with smell loss? Am. J. Neuroradiol. 24, 556-557.
- Levy, L.M., Henkin, R.I., 2004. Brain gamma-aminobutyric acid levels are decreased in patients with phantageusia and phantosmia demonstrated by magnetic resonance spectroscopy. J. Comput. Assist. Tomogr. 28, 721–727. Liu, B., Feng, Y., Yang, M., Chen, J.-y., Li, J., Huang, Z.-c., Zhang, L.-I., 2015. Functional
- connectivity in patients with sensorineural hearing loss using resting-state MRI. Am. J. Audiol. 24, 145–152.
- Llinás, R.R., Steriade, M., 2006. Bursting of thalamic neurons and states of vigilance. J. Neurophysiol. 95, 3297–3308.
- Llinás, R.R., Ribary, U., Jeanmonod, D., Kronberg, E., Mitra, P.P., 1999. Thalamocortical dysrhythmia: a neurological and neuropsychiatric syndrome characterized by magnetoencephalography. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 96, 15222–15227. Llinás, R., Urbano, F.J., Leznik, E., Ramírez, R.R., van Marle, H.J.F., 2005. Rhythmic and
- dysrhythmic thalamocortical dynamics: GABA systems and the edge effect. Trends Neurosci. 28, 325-333.
- Lopez, C., Halje, P., Blanke, O., 2008. Body ownership and embodiment: vestibular and multisensory mechanisms. Neurophysiol. Clin./Clin. Neurophysiol. 38, 149-161
- Lopez, C., Lenggenhager, B., Blanke, O., 2010. How vestibular stimulation interacts with illusory hand ownership. Conscious. Cogn. 19, 33-47.
- Lopez, C., 2013. A neuroscientific account of how vestibular disorders impair bodily self-consciousness. Front. Integr. Neurosci. 7. Lu, Z., Daneman, M., Schneider, B.A., 2016. Does increasing the intelligibility of a
- competing sound source interfere more with speech comprehension in older adults than it does in younger adults? Atten. Percept. Psychophys. 1-23.
- Métin, C., Frost, D.O., 1989. Visual responses of neurons in somatosensory cortex of hamsters with experimentally induced retinal projections to somatosensory thalamus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 86, 357-361.
- Møller, A.R., Langguth, B., DeRidder, D., Kleinjung, T., 2010. Textbook of Tinnitus: Diagnosis and Treatment. Springer, New York.
- Maheswaran, T., Abikshyeet, P., Sitra, G., Gokulanathan, S., Vaithiyanadane, V.,
- Jeelani, S., 2014. Gustatory dysfunction. J. Pharm. Bioallied Sci. 6, S30–S33. Makin, T.R., Scholz, J., Filippini, N., Slater, D.H., Tracey, I., Johansen-Berg, H., 2013. Phantom pain is associated with preserved structure and function in the former hand area. Nat. Commun. 4, 1570.
- Makin, T.R., Filippini, N., Duff, E.P., Slater, D.H., Tracey, I., Johansen-Berg, H., 2015. Network-level reorganisation of functional connectivity following arm amputation. Neuroimage 114, 217-225.
- Malis, D.-D., Guyot, J.-P., 2003. Room tilt illusion as a manifestation of peripheral vestibular disorders. Annals of Otology. Rhinol. Laryngol. 112, 600-605.

Martínez-Roda, J.A., Vilaseca, M., Ondategui, J.C., Aguirre, M., Pujol, J., 2016. Effects of aging on optical quality and visual function. Clin. Exp. Optom. 99, 518-525.

- Melzack, R., Israel, R., Lacroix, R., Schultz, G., 1997. Phantom limbs in people with congenital limb deficiency or amputation in early childhood. Brain 120, 1603-1620.
- Melzack, R., 1990. Phantom limbs and the concept of a neuromatrix. Trends Neurosci. 13, 88-92.
- Miller, T.C., Crosby, T., 1979. Musical hallucinations in a deaf elderly patient. Ann. Neurol. 5, 301-302.
- Moeller, L., Lempert, T., 2007. Mal de debarquement: pseudo-hallucinations from vestibular memory? J. Neurol. 254, 813-815.
- Mohan, A., De Ridder, D., Vanneste, S., 2016. Robustness and dynamicity of functional networks in phantom sound. Neuroimage .
- Nicolas-Puel, C., Faulconbridge, R.L., Guitton, M., Puel, J.-L., Mondain, M., Uziel, A., 2002. Characteristics of tinnitus and etiology of associated hearing loss: a study of 123 patients. Int. Tinnitus J. 8, 37-44.
- Nishimura, H., Hashikawa, K., Doi, K., Iwaki, T., Watanabe, Y., Kusuoka, H., Nishimura, T., Kubo, T., 1999. Sign language 'heard'in the auditory cortex. Nature 397, 116.
- Nithianantharajah, J., Hannan, A.J., 2009. The neurobiology of brain and cognitive reserve: mental and physical activity as modulators of brain disorders. Prog. Neurobiol. 89, 369–382.

Noreña, A.J., Farley, B.J., 2013. Tinnitus-related neural activity: theories of generation, propagation, and centralization. Hear. Res. 295, 161-171.

- Norena, A.J., Tomita, M., Eggermont, J.J., 2003. Neural changes in cat auditory cortex after a transient pure-tone trauma. J. Neurophysiol. 90, 2387-2401.
- Oouchida, Y., Sudo, T., Inamura, T., Tanaka, N., Ohki, Y., Izumi, S.-i., 2016. Maladaptive change of body representation in the brain after damage to central or peripheral nervous system. Neurosci. Res. 104, 38-43.
- Palumbo, D.B., Joos, K., Ridder, D.D., Vanneste, S., 2015. The management and outcomes of pharmacological treatments for tinnitus. Curr. Neuropharmacol. 13, 692-700.
- Pang, L., 2015. Visual hallucinations: identifying charles bonnet syndrome. Int. J. Ophthalmol. Eye Res. S1, 14-22.
- Paulig, M., Mentrup, H., 2001. Charles Bonnet's syndrome: complete remission of complex visual hallucinations treated by gabapentin. Journal of Neurology. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 70, 813-814.
- Penny, W., 2012. Bayesian models of brain and behaviour. Int. Sch. Res. Notices 2012. Peterhans, E., von der Heydt, R., 1989. Mechanisms of contour perception in monkey
- visual cortex. II. Contours bridging gaps. J. Neurosci. 9, 1749-1763. Pinault, D., 2004. The thalamic reticular nucleus: structure, function and concept. Brain Res. Rev. 46, 1-31.
- Poeck, K., 1964. Phantoms following amputation in early childhood and in congenital absence of limbs. Cortex 1, 269-275.
- Price, E.H., 2006. A critical review of congenital phantom limb cases and a developmental theory for the basis of body image. Conscious. Cogn. 15, 310-322
- Querner, V., Schenk, T., Brandt, T., 1999. Motion-induced transient room tilt illusion in an otherwise healthy subject. Neuro-Ophthalmology 22, 169-176.
- Röder, B., Rösler, F., Hennighausen, E., Näcker, F., 1996. Event-related potentials during auditory and somatosensory discrimination in sighted and blind human subjects. Cognitive Brain Res. 4, 77–93.
- Röder, B., Teder-SaÈlejaÈrvi, W., Sterr, A., Rösler, F., Hillyard, S.A., Neville, H.J., 1999. Improved auditory spatial tuning in blind humans. Nature 400, 162–166.
- Rabinowitch, I., Bai, J., 2016a. The foundations of cross-modal plasticity. Commun. Integr. Biol. 9, e1002348.
- Rabinowitch, I., Bai, J., 2016b. The foundations of cross-modal plasticity. Commun. Integr. Biol. 9, e1158378.
- Raichle, M.E., 2015. The brain's default mode network. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 38, 433– 447
- Rajan, R., 1998. Receptor organ damage causes loss of cortical surround inhibition without topographic map plasticity. Nat. Neurosci. 1, 138-143.
- Ramachandran, V.S., Rogers-Ramachandran, D., 1996. Synaesthesia in phantom limbs induced with mirrors. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B: Biol. Sci. 263, 377–386. Ramachandran, V.S., Blakeslee, S., Sacks, O.W., 1998. Phantoms in the Brain: Probing
- the Mysteries of the Human Mind, William Morrow, New York,

Ramachandran, V.S., 1993. Filling in gaps in perception: part II: scotomas and phantom limbs. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 2, 56-65.

- Rasmussen, M.L.R., Prause, J.U., Toft, P.B., 2011. Phantom pain after eye amputation. Acta Ophthalmol. (Copenh.) 89, 10–16.
- Rauschecker, J.P., Leaver, A.M., Muhlau, M., 2010a. Tuning out the noise: limbicauditory interactions in tinnitus. Neuron 66, 819-826.
- Rauschecker, J.P., Leaver, A.M., Mühlau, M., 2010b. Tuning out the noise: limbicauditory interactions in tinnitus. Neuron 66, 819-826.
- Rauschecker, J.P., May, E.S., Maudoux, A., Ploner, M., 2015. Frontostriatal gating of tinnitus and chronic pain. Trends Cogn. Sci. 19, 567-578.
- Rauschecker, J.P., 1995. Compensatory plasticity and sensory substitution in the cerebral cortex. Trends Neurosci. 18, 36-43.
- Rauschecker, J., 1996. Substitution of visual by auditory inputs in the cat's anterior ectosylvian cortex. Prog. Brain Res. 112, 313-323.
- Rebillard, G., Carlier, E., Rebillard, M., Pujol, R., 1977. Enhancement of visual responses on the primary auditory cortex of the cat after an early destruction of cochlear receptors. Brain Res. 129, 162-164.
- Reed, A., Riley, J., Carraway, R., Carrasco, A., Perez, C., Jakkamsetti, V., Kilgard, M.P., 2011. Cortical map plasticity improves learning but is not necessary for improved performance. Neuron 70, 121-131.

A. Mohan, S. Vanneste/Progress in Neurobiology xxx (2017) xxx-xxx

- Rizzolatti, G., Camarda, R., Fogassi, L., Gentilucci, M., Luppino, G., Matelli, M., 1988. Functional organization of inferior area 6 in the macaque monkey. Exp. Brain Res. 71, 491–507.
- Rosenhall, U., Karlsson, A.-K., 1991. Tinnitus in old age. Scand. Audiol. 20, 165–171. Ryugo, D.K., Ryugo, R., Globus, A., Killackey, H.P., 1975. Increased spine density in
- auditory cortex following visual or somatic deafferentation. Brain Res. 90, 143– 146.
- Saadah, E., Melzack, R., 1994. Phantom limb experiences in congenital limbdeficient adults. Cortex 30, 479–485.
- Sabbah, N., Authié, C.N., Sanda, N., Mohand-Saïd, S., Sahel, J.-A., Safran, A.B., Habas, C., Amedi, A., 2016. Increased functional connectivity between language and visually deprived areas in late and partial blindness. Neuroimage 136, 162–173.
- Sadato, N., Pascual-Leone, A., Grafman, J., Ibañez, V., Deiber, M.-P., Dold, G., Hallett, M., 1996. Activation of the primary visual cortex by Braille reading in blind subjects. Nature 380, 526–528.
- Sadato, N., Okada, T., Honda, M., Yonekura, Y., 2002. Critical period for cross-modal plasticity in blind humans: a functional MRI study. Neuroimage 16, 389–400.
- Salat, D.H., Buckner, R.L., Snyder, A.Z., Greve, D.N., Desikan, R.S.R., Busa, E., Morris, J. C., Dale, A.M., Fischl, B., 2004. Thinning of the cerebral cortex in aging. Cereb. Cortex 14, 721–730.
- Santos, M.J.d., Claudino, R., Mazzo, G.Z., 2016. Delayed compensatory postural adjustments after lateral perturbations contribute to the reduced ability of older adults to control body balance. Motor Control 1–29.
- Sasaki, Y., Watanabe, T., 2004. The primary visual cortex fills in color. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 101, 18251–18256.
- Satz, P., Cole, M.A., Hardy, D.J., Rassovsky, Y., 2011. Brain and cognitive reserve: mediator(s) and construct validity, a critique. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 33, 121–130.
- Schadlu, A.P., Schadlu, R., Shepherd III, J.B., 2009. Charles Bonnet syndrome: a review. Curr. Opin. Ophthalmol. 20, 219–222.
- Schechter, P.J., Henkin, R.I., 1974. Abnormalities of taste and smell after head trauma. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 37, 802–810.
- Schott, G.D., 1993. Penfield's homunculus: a note on cerebral cartography. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 56, 329.
- Schultz, G., Melzack, R., 1991. The charles bonnet syndrome: 'Phantom visual images'. Perception 20, 809–825.
- Schwartz, T.L., Vahgei, L., 1998. Charles Bonnet syndrome in children. J. Am. Assoc. Pediatr. Ophthalmol. Strabismus 2, 310–313.
- Scinska, A., Jodkowska, A., Korkosz, A., Kukwa, W., Sienkiewicz-Jarosz, H., 2008. Post-tonsillectomy dysgeusia with weight loss: possible involvement of soft palate. J. Laryngol. Otol. 122, e5.
- Seeley, W.W., Menon, V., Schatzberg, A.F., Keller, J., Glover, G.H., Kenna, H., Reiss, A.L., Greicius, M.D., 2007. Dissociable intrinsic connectivity networks for salience processing and executive control. J. Neurosci. 27, 2349–2356.
- Seki, S., Eggermont, J.J., 2003. Changes in spontaneous firing rate and neural synchrony in cat primary auditory cortex after localized tone-induced hearing loss. Hear. Res. 180, 28–38.
- Sereda, M., Edmondson-Jones, M., Hall, D.A., 2015. Relationship between tinnitus pitch and edge of hearing loss in individuals with a narrow tinnitus bandwidth. Int. J. Audiol. 54, 249–256.
- Sexton, C.E., Walhovd, K.B., Storsve, A.B., Tamnes, C.K., Westlye, L.T., Johansen-Berg, H., Fjell, A.M., 2014. Accelerated changes in white matter microstructure during aging: a longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging study. J. Neurosci. 34, 15425– 15436.
- Sherman, S.M., Guillery, R.W., 1996. Functional organization of thalamocortical relays. J. Neurophysiol. 76, 1367.
- Shore, S.E., Roberts, L.E., Langguth, B., 2016. Maladaptive plasticity in tinnitus [mdash] triggers, mechanisms and treatment. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 12, 150–160.
- Sterling, P., Eyer, J., 1988. In: Fisher, S., Reason, J. (Eds.), Handbook of Life Stress, Cognition and Health. Copyright 1988 John Wiley & Sons.
- Sterling, P., 2012. Allostasis: a model of predictive regulation. Physiol. Behav. 106, 5– 15.
- Stern, Y., 2006. Cognitive reserve and Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord. 20, 112–117.
- Stern, Y., 2009. Cognitive reserve. Neuropsychologia 47, 2015–2028.
- Stevenson, R.J., Langdon, R., 2012. Olfactory and gustatory hallucinations.
- Hallucinations. Springer, pp. 143–155. Sur, M., Garraghty, P.E., Roe, A.W., 1988. Experimentally induced visual projections
- into auditory thalamus and cortex. Science 242, 1437–1441.

- Szymiec, E., Dabrowski, P., Banaszewski, J., Szyfter, W., 2002. The problem of tinnitus in patients with presbyacusis. Otolaryngol. Pol. 56, 357–360.
- Temporale, H., Zub, K., Zatoński, T., Kręcicki, T., 2013. Post-tonsillectomy taste disorders-review of literature. J. Otol. Rhinol. 2 (3), 2.
- Tiliket, C., Ventre-Dominey, J., Vighetto, A., Grochowicki, M., 1996. Room tilt illusion: a central otolith dysfunction. Arch. Neurol. 53, 1259–1264.
- Timofeev, I., Bazhenov, M., Seigneur, J., Sejnowski, T., 2012. Neuronal synchronization and thalamocortical rhythms in sleep, wake and epilepsy.
- Toldi, J., Farkas, T., Völgyi, B., 1994a. Neonatal enucleation induces cross-modal changes in the barrel cortex of rat: a behavioural and electrophysiological study. Neurosci. Lett. 167, 1–4.
- Toldi, J., Rojik, I., Feher, O., 1994b. Neonatal monocular enucleation-induced crossmodal effects observed in the cortex of adult rat. Neuroscience 62, 105–114.
- Tomofuji, S., Sakagami, M., Kushida, K., Terada, T., Mori, H., Kakibuchi, M., 2005. Taste disturbance after tonsillectomy and laryngomicrosurgery. Auris Nasus Larynx 32, 381–386.
- Tulving, E., Markowitsch, H.J., 1997. Memory beyond the hippocampus. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 7, 209–216.
- Turrigiano, G.G., Nelson, S.B., 2004. Homeostatic plasticity in the developing nervous system. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 5, 97–107.
- Van Brussel, L., Gerits, A., Arckens, L., 2011. Evidence for cross-modal plasticity in adult mouse visual cortex following monocular enucleation. Cereb. Cortex bhq286.
- Vanneste, S., De Ridder, D., 2012. The auditory and non-auditory brain areas involved in tinnitus. An emergent property of multiple parallel overlapping subnetworks. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 6.
- Vanneste, S., De Ridder, D., 2015. Stress-related functional connectivity changes between auditory cortex and cingulate in tinnitus. Brain Connect. 5, 371–383.
- Vanneste, S., De Ridder, D., 2016. Deafferentation-based pathophysiological differences in phantom sound: tinnitus with and without hearing loss. Neuroimage 129, 80–94.
- Vanneste, S., Plazier, M., der Loo, E.v., de Heyning, P.V., Congedo, M., De Ridder, D., 2010. The neural correlates of tinnitus-related distress. Neuroimage 52, 470– 480.
- Vanneste, S., Song, J.-J., De Ridder, D., 2013. Tinnitus and musical hallucinosis: the same but more. Neuroimage 82, 373–383.
- Vitorovic, D., Biller, J., 2014. Musical hallucinations and forgotten tunes-case report and brief literature review. CPC Var. Case Rep. Neurol. 9.
- von der Heydt, R., Peterhans, E., Baumgartner, G., 1984. Illusory contours and cortical neuron responses. Science 224, 1260–1262.
- Vosshall, L.B., Wong, A.M., Axel, R., 2000. An olfactory sensory map in the fly brain. Cell 102, 147–159.
- Wang, J., Sun, X., Yang, Q.X., 2016. Early aging effect on the function of the human central olfactory system. J. Gerontol. Ser. A: Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.,
 Warren L. Schott, G. 2006. Musical ballucinations in a musician L. Naurel. 252.
- Warren, J., Schott, Ğ., 2006. Musical hallucinations in a musician. J. Neurol. 253, 1097–1099.
- Weinstein, S., Sersen, E.A., 1961. Phantoms in cases of congenital absence of limbs. Neurology.
- Weinstein, S., Sersen, E.A., Vetter, R.J., 1964. Phantoms and somatic sensation in cases of congenital aplasia. Cortex 1, 276–290.
- Westlye, L.T., Walhovd, K.B., Dale, A.M., Bjørnerud, A., Due-Tønnessen, P., Engvig, A., Grydeland, H., Tamnes, C.K., Østby, Y., Fjell, A.M., 2009. Life-span changes of the human brain white matter: diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) and volumetry. Cereb. Cortex bhp280.
- Woo, P.Y., Leung, L.N., Cheng, S.T., Chan, K.-Y., 2014. Monoaural musical hallucinations caused by a thalamocortical auditory radiation infarct: a case report. J. Med. Case Rep. 8, 1.

Woolf, C.J., Mannion, R.J., 1999. Neuropathic pain: aetiology, symptoms, mechanisms, and management. Lancet 353, 1959–1964.

- Wrobel, B.B., Leopold, D.A., 2004. Clinical assessment of patients with smell and taste disorders. Otolaryngol. Clin. North Am. 37, 1127–1142.
- Yanagisawa, K., Bartoshuk, L.M., Catalanotto, F.A., Karrer, T.A., Kveton, J.F., 1998. Anesthesia of the chorda tympani nerve and taste phantoms. Physiol. Behav. 63, 329–335.
- Yin, H.H., Ostlund, S.B., Balleine, B.W., 2008. Reward-guided learning beyond dopamine in the nucleus accumbens: the integrative functions of cortico-basal ganglia networks. Eur. J. Neurosci. 28, 1437–1448.
- Zhang, J., Chen, Y.-C., Feng, X., Yang, M., Liu, B., Qian, C., Wang, J., Salvi, R., Teng, G.-J., 2015. Impairments of thalamic resting-state functional connectivity in patients with chronic tinnitus. Eur. J. Radiol. 84, 1277–1284.